
GOVERNORS STATE 
UNIVERSITY 
Board of Trustees

Budget, Finance and Audit Committee

October 7, 2022 
Engbretson Hall 



Table of Contents 
1. Agenda ......................................................................................................................................................................... 2 

2. May 24, 2022 Budget and Finance Committee Meeting Minutes ...................................................................... 6 
3. Budget to Actual Report for period July 1, 2021 through June 30, 2022 .........................................................11 

4. Procurement Activities Report ............................................................................................................................... 14 

5. Diversity Vendor Report ......................................................................................................................................... 16 

a. Report .................................................................................................................................................................... 16 

b. Exhibit to Report ................................................................................................................................................. 17 
6. Report on Income-Producing Contracts .............................................................................................................. 19 

7. Reporting on FY2021 Audits .................................................................................................................................. 22 

a. Report on Fiscal Year 2021 Audit and Financial Results ............................................................................... 23 

b. Slide Deck ............................................................................................................................................................... 27 

c. Financial Audit for Year Ended June 30, 2021 ................................................................................................ 49 
d. State Compliance Examination for Year Ended June 30, 2021....................................................................134 

e. Federal Single Audit for Year Ended June 30, 2021 ......................................................................................226 

f. Corrective Action Plans ......................................................................................................................................258 

8. Resolution 23-XX: Consideration and Possible Recommendation of FY2023 Operating Budget for
Approval by Board and Submission to IBHE .....................................................................................................264 

a. Executive Summary .............................................................................................................................................265 
b. Proposed Resolution .......................................................................................................................................... 269 

9. Resolution 23-XX: Consideration and Possible Recommendation of FY2024 Operating Appropriations
    Budget for Approval by Board and Submission to IBHE ................................................................................ 272 

a. Executive Summary ............................................................................................................................................ 273 

b. Proposed Resolution ...........................................................................................................................................276

10. Resolution 23-XX: Consideration and Possible Recommendation of FY2024 Capital Improvement
Budget for Approval by Board and Submission to IBHE .................................................................................280 

a. Executive Summary .............................................................................................................................................281 
b. Proposed Resolution ............................................................................................................................................283 

c. Exhibit to Proposed Resolution ......................................................................................................................... 285 

11. Resolution 23-XX: Approval of Investment Policy ............................................................................................299 

a. Executive Summary .............................................................................................................................................300 

b.    Proposed Resolution ....................................................................................................................... ................    302 
c. Exhibit A to Proposed Resolution ...................................................................................................................  304 

d.     Exhibit B to Proposed Resolution .. ...............................................................................................................     323 



TAB 1 

BFAC 001



 
 

GOVERNORS STATE UNIVERSITY  
BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

 
Budget, Finance & Audit Committee Meeting  

October 7, 2022 at 10:30 AM 
 

To be conducted by audio and video conference* as permitted by Public Act 101-0640  
and Illinois Governor’s Disaster Proclamation dated September 16, 2022. 

 
Jim Kvedaras, Chair  

 
Time**  Topic Tab #’s 
10:30am* I. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL  

    
10:35am II. PUBLIC COMMENT 

Consistent with Public Act 91-0715 and reasonable constraints 
determined by the Board of Trustees, at each regular or special meeting 
of the Board or its committees that is open to the public, members of the 
public may request a brief time on the approved agenda of the meeting to 
address the Board on relevant matters within its jurisdiction.   

 

    
10:45am III. APPROVAL OF MEETING AGENDA 1 

    
10:50am IV. APPROVAL OF MINUTES  

1. May 24, 2022 Budget and Finance Committee Meeting  
2 

    
10:55am V. INFORMATION ITEMS  

1. Budget to Actual Report for period July 1, 2021 through June 30, 
2022 
Presenter: Ms. Sandra Zurawski, Executive Director, Budget and  
Financial Planning   

3 

2. Procurement Activities of $100,000 to $249,999 for the Period of  
May 1, 2022 through August 31, 2022 
Presenter: Ms. Tracy Sullivan, Associate Vice President, Procurement and 
Business Services 

 

4 

3. Diversity Vendor Report 
Presenter: Ms. Tracy Sullivan, Associate Vice President, Procurement and 
Business Services 

 

5 

4. Report on Income-Producing Contracts  
Presenter: Dr. Corey S. Bradford, Sr., Vice President, Administration and 
Finance  

 

6 

5. Reporting on FY2021 Audits  7 

BFAC 002



2 
**Times are approximate 
 

Time**  Topic Tab #’s 
Presenters: Dr. Corey S. Bradford, Sr., Vice President, Administration and 
Finance & Mr. Kristoffer Evangelista, CPA, Chief Internal Auditor 

 
  6. Retention Strategies for Students Struggling with Debt 

Presenters: Dr. Corey S. Bradford, Sr., Vice President, Administration and 
Finance and Mr. Paul McGuinness, Vice President for Student Affairs and 
Enrollment Management 

 

   
 

 

11:25am VI. ACTION ITEMS 
 

 

1. Resolution 23-XX: Consideration and Possible Recommendation 
of FY2023 Operating Budget for Approval by Board and 
Submission to IBHE 
Presenter: Dr. Corey S. Bradford, Sr., Vice President, Administration and 
Finance  

 

8 

2. Resolution 23-XX: Consideration and Possible Recommendation 
of FY2024 Operating Appropriations Budget for Approval by 
Board and Submission to IBHE 
Presenter: Dr. Corey S. Bradford, Sr., Vice President, Administration and 
Finance 

9 

3. Resolution 23-XX: Consideration and Possible Recommendation 
of FY2024 Capital Improvement Budget for Approval by Board 
and Submission to IBHE 
Presenter: Ms. Sandra Zurawski, Executive Director, Budget and  
Financial Planning & Mr. John Potempa, Associate VP for Facilities 
Management and Development 

 

10 

4. Resolution 23-XX: Approval of Investment Policy  
Presenter: Dr. Corey S. Bradford, Sr. Vice President, Administration and 
Finance 

11 

    
11:40am VII. EXECUTIVE SESSION (IF NEEDED)  

    
11:40am VIII. OLD BUSINESS/NEW BUSINESS  

    
11:45am IX. ADJOURN  

 

BFAC 003



3 
**Times are approximate 
 

*Notice to GSU Community and Members of the Public: 
1. If you require accommodations to participate fully in the meeting, please contact Therese King Nohos 

(contact Information below) to request an accommodation. 
2. If you wish to make a public comment, please register in advance to do so by contacting Therese 

King Nohos by 5 PM on Wednesday October 5, 2022. 
3. If you wish to observe and listen to the meeting virtually, a link is provided below for your use. 

Contact Information:  Therese King Nohos; tnohos@govst.edu and phone is 780.855.1553. 

 
Zoom Link: https://us02web.zoom.us/j/88181694702?pwd=ejVuYU92ajc1dnRGMnNaZ2JxZFc3Zz09 

Please click the General Invitation Link herein to join the meeting with Passcode: 926498 
Or one-tap mobile: US: +13092053325,88181694702# or +13126266799,88181694702# 

BFAC 004

mailto:tnohos@govst.edu
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/88181694702?pwd=ejVuYU92ajc1dnRGMnNaZ2JxZFc3Zz09


TAB 2 

BFAC 005



1 
 

Draft for  
committee review  

GOVERNORS STATE UNIVERSITY 
Board of Trustees 

Budget and Finance Committee 
 

Minutes of the Tuesday, May 24, 2022 Regular Meeting 
 

Note: As permitted by Public Act 101-0640 and Illinois Governor’s Disaster Proclamation dated 
April 29, 2022, this meeting was held via Zoom.  

 
Call to Order and Roll Call 
 
The Governors State University Board of Trustees Budget and Finance Committee meeting for 
Tuesday, May 24, 2022 was called to order at 8:01 am. Roll call was taken and Trustees Kevin 
Brookins, John Brudnak, Pedro Cevallos-Candau, Latrice Koger, and Angela Sebastian were in 
attendance. Trustee Jim Kvedaras also attended. The meeting was held via Zoom.  
 
Trustee John Brudnak left the meeting at 8:58am.  
 
Also in attendance:  
Cheryl Green, President 
Corey S. Bradford, Sr., Vice President for Administration and Finance 
Beverly Schneller, Provost and Vice President for Academic Affairs 
Therese King Nohos, Vice President, General Counsel and Interim Vice President of Human 
    Resources 
Penny Perdue, Chief of Administrative Operations and Liaison to the Board 
 
Rasha Abed, Director, Sponsored Programs and Research  
Anaberta Acosta, Financial Analyst/Planner Specialist, Institutional Research  
Josh Allen, Associate Vice President, Human Resources  
Chevonne Alston, Faculty, College of Business, Faculty Senate Representative  
Villalyn Baluga, Associate Vice President for Finance 
Cathy Balthazar, Dean, College of Health and Human Services  
Ed Bockman, Director of Support Services, Information Technology Services  
Mushtaq Choudhary, Dean of Students  
Will Davis, Vice President, Institutional Advancement and Marketing and Communications and  
     CEO of the GSU Foundation 
Kristoffer Evangelista, Internal Auditor  
Judy Ferneau, IT Manager/Administrative Coordinator, Information Technology Services  
Joan Johns-Maloney, Coordinator of Benefits & Employee Relations, Human Resources 
Nadine Johnson, Senior Vice President, Public Fund Banking, Old National Bank 
Maureen Kelly, Director of Community and Government Relations 
Michael Lambert, Vice President, Wealth Management, Old National Bank 
Blaise Lukasiewicz, Documentation/Training Specialist, Information Technology Services  
Paul McGuinness, Vice President of Student Affairs and Enrollment Management 
Patricia O’Neal, Executive Assistant to the President  
Heather Penn, Chief Broadcasting Engineer, Digital Learning and Media Design 

BFAC 006



2 
 

John Potempa, Associate Vice President, Facilities Development and Management 
Donald Powell, Senior Vice President, Wealth Management, Old National Bank 
Aurora Ramos, Procurement Coordinator Specialist, Procurement and Business Services 
Colleen Sexton, Associate Provost and Associate Vice President for Academic Affairs 
Tracy Sullivan, Associate Vice President of Procurement and Business Services 
Dennis Swanson, Interim Dean, University Library  
Brian Tse, Technical Associate, Information Technology Services  
Kaitlyn Wild, Director of Compliance and Ethics Officer  
Fred Yantes, Budget Analyst III, Office of Budget and Financial Planning 
Jun Zhao, Dean, College of Business 
Jason Zingsheim, Interim Dean, College of Arts and Sciences 
Sandra Zurawski, Executive Director of Budget and Financial Planning 
 
 
Public Comment 
 
None. 
 
Approval of Meeting Agenda 
 
Chair Sebastian asked for a motion to approve the agenda for the May 24, 2022 Budget and 
Finance Committee meeting. Trustee Brookins motioned. Trustee Koger seconded. The motion 
was approved via a unanimous roll call vote.  
 
Approval of Minutes 
 
Chair Sebastian asked for a motion to approve the minutes of the March 1, 2022 Budget and 
Finance Committee meeting. Trustee Brookins motioned. Trustee Koger seconded. The motion 
was approved via a unanimous roll call vote.  
 
Information Items 
 
Chair Sebastian asked Corey S. Bradford, Sr., Vice President of Administration and Finance, to 
present the Budget to Actual Report for the period of July 1, 2021 through March 31, 2022.  
Dr. Bradford presented the report included in the Board Book. Discussion ensued.  
 
Chair Sebastian asked Corey S. Bradford, Sr., Vice President of Administration and Finance, to 
present the Report on Purchases of $50,000 to $99,999 for the period of February 1, 2022 
through April 30, 2022. Dr. Bradford presented the report included in the Board Book.  
 
Chair Sebastian asked Corey S. Bradford, Sr., Vice President of Administration and Finance, to 
present the report on Income-Producing Contracts of $10,000 or More for the Period Ended 
March 31, 2022. Dr. Bradford presented. A discussion ensued.  
 
 

BFAC 007



3 
 

Chair Sebastian asked Will Davis, Vice President, Institutional Advancement and Marketing and 
Communications and CEO of the GSU Foundation, to present the Report on Contributions 
Between the University and University Related Organizations for the quarter ending March 31, 
2022. Mr. Davis presented the report included in the Board Book.  
 
Chair Sebastian asked Corey S. Bradford, Sr., Vice President of Administration and Finance, and 
Donald Powell, Senior Vice President Wealth Management at Old National Bank, to present the 
Report on New Investment Strategy. Dr. Bradford and Mr. Powell presented. A discussion 
ensued.  
 
Chair Sebastian asked Corey S. Bradford, Sr., Vice President of Administration and Finance, 
John Potempa, Associate Vice President, Facilities Development and Management, and Sandra 
Zurawski, Executive Director of Budget and Financial Planning, to present the Fiscal Year 2023 
Large Projects Plan. Dr. Bradford, Mr. Potempa, and Ms. Zurawski presented. A discussion 
ensued.  
 
Action Items 
 
Chair Sebastian requested a motion for Consideration and Possible Recommendation to the Full 
Board the Amendments to Section V of the Board Regulations Regarding Administrative 
Affairs. Trustee Cevallos-Candau motioned. Trustee Koger seconded. Dr. Corey S. Bradford, 
Sr., Vice President of Administration and Finance, presented the resolution. The motion passed 
unanimously on a roll call vote.  
 
Chair Sebastian requested a motion for Consideration and Possible Recommendation to the Full 
Board the Approval of the Preliminary FY2023 Operating Budget. Trustee Cevallos-Candau 
motioned. Trustee Koger seconded. Corey S. Bradford, Sr., Vice President of Administration, 
and Finance, and Sandra Zurawski, Executive Director of Budget and Financial Planning, 
presented the resolution. The motion passed unanimously on a roll call vote.  
 
Chair Sebastian requested a motion for Consideration and Possible Recommendation to the Full 
Board the Approval of a Construction Contract with M&J Underground, Inc. for D Dock 
Roadway Improvements. Trustee Koger motioned. Trustee Brookins seconded. John Potempa, 
Associate Vice President, Facilities Development and Management, and Tracy Sullivan, 
Associate Vice President of Procurement and Business Services, presented the resolution. A 
discussion ensued. The motion passed unanimously on a roll call vote.  
 
Chair Sebastian requested a motion for Consideration and Possible Recommendation to the Full 
Board the Approval of a Construction Contract with M&J Underground, Inc. for Central 
Receiving Truck Dock Drainage Improvements. Trustee Koger motioned. Trustee Cevallos-
Candau seconded. John Potempa, Associate Vice President, Facilities Development and 
Management, and Tracy Sullivan, Associate Vice President of Procurement and Business 
Services, presented the resolution. The motion passed unanimously on a roll call vote.  
 
Chair Sebastian requested a motion for Consideration and Possible Recommendation to the Full 
Board the Approval of Master Contracts with Five Architectural Firms: Bailey Edwards Design, 

BFAC 008



4 
 

Inc.; Demonica Kemper Architects LLC; Holabird & Root LLC; LCM Architects; and Sengea 
Architects, Inc. Trustee Koger motioned. Trustee Brookins seconded. John Potempa, Associate 
Vice President, Facilities Development and Management, and Tracy Sullivan, Associate Vice 
President of Procurement and Business Services, presented the resolution. The motion passed 
unanimously on a roll call vote. 
 
Chair Sebastian requested a motion for Consideration and Possible Recommendation to the Full 
Board the Approval of Master Contracts with Four Engineering Firms: Interface Engineering 
Inc.; Rubinos & Mesia Engineers, Inc.; TERRA Engineering; and the HOH Group, Inc. Trustee 
Brookins motioned. Trustee Koger seconded. John Potempa, Associate Vice President, Facilities 
Development and Management, and Tracy Sullivan, Associate Vice President of Procurement 
and Business Services, presented the resolution. The motion passed unanimously on a roll call 
vote. 
 
Chair Sebastian requested a motion for Consideration and Possible Recommendation to the Full 
Board the Approval of a Contract Renewal for Document Imaging Software Maintenance with 
Hyland Software, Inc. Trustee Brookins motioned. Trustee Cevallos-Candau seconded. Paul 
McGuinness, Vice President of Student Affairs and Enrollment Management, and Tracy 
Sullivan, Associate Vice President of Procurement and Business Services, presented the 
resolution. The motion passed unanimously on a roll call vote. 
 
Chair Sebastian requested a motion for Consideration and Possible Recommendation to the Full 
Board the Approval of a Contract Renewal for Banking Related Services with First Midwest 
Bank. Trustee Koger motioned. Trustee Cevallos-Candau seconded. Corey S. Bradford, Sr., Vice 
President for Administration and Finance, and Lyn Baluga, Associate Vice President for 
Finance, presented the resolution. Discussion ensued. The motion passed unanimously on a roll 
call vote.  
 
Chair Sebastian requested a motion for Consideration and Possible Recommendation to the Full 
Board Waiving the Initial Reading of, and Publishing the Proposed Regulation Regarding a New 
Investment Policy for Public Comment. Trustee Brookins motioned. Trustee Koger seconded. 
Dr. Corey S. Bradford, Sr., Vice President of Administration and Finance, presented the 
resolution. Discussion ensued. The motion passed unanimously on a roll call vote. 
 
There being no old or new business, the meeting adjourned at 9:38 am with a motion from 
Trustee Brookins and a second from Trustee Koger. The motion passed unanimously on a voice 
vote.  
 
Approved this 7th day of October, 2022 
 
By:        
 Jim Kvedaras, Committee Chair 
 
 
 
 

BFAC 009



TAB 3 

BFAC 010



 

Budget, Finance & Audit Committee 
October 7, 2022 

 
 
 

 

1 
 

GSU Operating Budget to Actual Report 
July 1, 2021 to June 30, 2022 

 
I. REPORT 
 
For the period of June 1, 2021 to June 30, 2022 (“FY22”), Governors State 
University (“GSU”) anticipates operating revenues slightly higher than expenses 
resulting in a minimal surplus of $12,574. 
 
On April 11, 2022, an additional 5% increase in Illinois State appropriations for 
FY22 was approved and enacted for Illinois public institutions of higher education. 
The increase for GSU equated to an additional $1,159,700 in appropriations, 
resulting in GSU FY2022 total appropriations for Operations in the amount of 
$24,353,300.   
 
The benefit of the incremental FY22 state appropriations was offset by tuition 
income shortfall primarily due to the continued COVID-19 impact of transfer 
student enrollment. GSU has a long history as an undergraduate transfer institution. 
Over the last decade, especially since COVID-19, the Illinois community colleges 
have experienced a sharp downturn in enrollment. Thus, our Strategic Enrollment 
Plan includes the development of a Transfer Portal, digital media campaigns targeted 
at transfer students with a particular focus on students 25 years of age and older (i.e., 
nontraditional transfers).  
 
Additionally, the University used $2,007,895 from HEERF III ARP (Higher 
Education Emergency Relief Fund III American Rescue Plan) to help offset a 
portion of the tuition income shortfall. Per the funding guidelines, lost revenue refers 
to those revenues an institution of higher education otherwise expected but was 
reduced or eliminated as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. As such, lost revenues 
can be estimated and may include, but are not limited to, enrollment declines, 
including reduced tuition, fees, and institutional charges. 
 
Overall, reduced expenditures are the result of the COVID-19 pandemic: slow 
employment recovery and filling of open positions; reduced travel; and supply chain 
scarcity of commodities and market goods.   
 
Appropriation monies from the Illinois Office of the Comptroller are fully 
vouchered and have been received timely. 

BFAC 011



 

Budget, Finance & Audit Committee 
October 7, 2022 

 
 
 

 

2 
 

 
 

 
II. Resource/Contact   

Sandra Zurawski, Executive Director, Budget & Financial Planning; 
szurawski@govst.edu; 708.534.4981 

Category Name

FY2021 
Projected 

Actual

 FY2022 
Operating 

Budget

FY2022 
Projected 

Actual

FY2022 Projected 
Ending Balances 
(Budget- Actual)

Revenues:
Income Fund $32,269,666 $36,592,185 $32,744,758 ($3,847,427)
Appropriation $23,193,600 $23,193,600 $24,353,300 $1,159,700
Total Revenues $55,463,266 $59,785,785 $57,098,058 ($2,687,727)

Expenses:
Personnel Services $44,830,775 $49,093,811 $47,317,031 $1,776,780
Fringe Benefits $1,424,382 $1,536,200 $1,496,299 $39,901
Contractual $6,286,481 $7,253,199 $6,979,779 $273,420
Commodities $387,872 $857,075 $598,906 $258,169
Permanent Improvement $250,422 $0 $19,130 ($19,130)
Travel $4,748 $425,870 $150,054 $275,816
Equipment $476,297 $356,505 $367,518 ($11,013)
Telecom $134,858 $182,750 $123,454 $59,296
Auto Operations $52,002 $41,375 $33,313 $8,062
Awards ($68,569) $39,000 $0 $39,000
Reserve** $0 $0 $0 $0
Total Expenses: $53,779,268 $59,785,785 $57,085,484 $2,700,301

Surplus (Deficit) $1,683,998 $0 $12,574 $12,574

Notes:
** Historical Years Surplus adequate funds to support BOT Reserve requirement for FY2022

Governors State University
Budget to Actual by Major Category

As of Jun 30, 2022 (Unaudited)

BFAC 012



TAB 4 

BFAC 013



 

Budget, Finance & Audit Committee 
October 7, 2022 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Procurement Activities of $100,000 to $249,999 
for the Period of May 1, 2022 through August 31, 2022 

 
 

 
 

There are no activities to report for this time period.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Resource/Contact: Ms. Tracy Sullivan, Associate Vice President for Procurement and Business 
Services; tsullivan@govst.edu; 708.235.2179 

BFAC 014



TAB 5 

BFAC 015



 

Budget, Finance & Audit Committee 
October 7, 2022 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

Diversity Vendor Report 
 

The University has a commitment to supplier diversity, and encourages the use of diversely owned 
businesses, wherever practicable. The State of Illinois certifies businesses as diverse in the following 
categories: minority-owned; women-owned; disability-owned; and Veteran-owned. Certifications are 
processed through the Business Enterprise Program’s (BEP) criteria (ownership and control) of the business 
entity. BEP is one area that reports to the new Commission on Equity and Inclusion (CEI). 
 
The University reports in the fall of each year all expenditures in each category for the prior fiscal year. 
While BEP has not issued the request for FY22 or a new report format, GSU has prepared the data. With 
95% of data received, the attached information details spending by category. 
 
For every competitive solicitation issued, the AVP of Procurement establishes diversity goals for BEP and 
Veteran certified vendors. This goal is established by assessing the marketplace for the product being 
sourced and the number of certified firms in that category. The University establishes a 30% goal for BEP 
and 2% goal for use of Veteran owned businesses with each construction bid. Achievement can be reported 
for prime vendor contracts and/or subcontractor inclusion.  
 
This past year we saw increases due to contracts with architects/engineers, construction, IT hardware, and a 
diverse supplier who assists with COVID-19 cleaning protocols. The chart below shows the total spend per 
category for minority (MBE), women (WBE), disabled (DBE), and Veteran (VOSB) owned entities spend 
with certified businesses in the last four fiscal years. 
 

 
 
Resource/Contact: Ms. Tracy Sullivan, Associate Vice President for Procurement and Business  
Services; tsullivan@govst.edu; 708.235.2179 

0.00

500,000.00

1,000,000.00

1,500,000.00

2,000,000.00

2,500,000.00

MBE WBE DBE VOSB

GSU's Diverse Vendor Spend
FY19 FY20 FY21 FY22

BFAC 016



Governors State University
Summary of Diverse Vendor Spending

as of 09/15/22

Ownership types: FY19 FY20 FY21 FY22

African American Male 229,891.31           309,701.54           161,643.26           207,656.33           
African American Female 24,114.81              107,166.93           125,582.08           166,735.17           
Hispanic American Male 23,838.00              81,635.32              96,260.00              329,238.76           
Hispanic American Female 19,408.00              101,801.75           -                          19,798.79              
Asian American Male 177,514.44           72,273.00              361,449.00           733,847.79           
Asian American Female 445,260.00           -                          -                          -                          
Female, non-minority 1,018,747.16        1,373,888.58        1,447,112.34        1,928,950.14        
Persons with a disability -                          -                          113,845.88           20,691.02              
Sheltered Workshops 421.50                   289.80                   1,979.80                4,537.03                

BEP Diverse Business Spend 1,939,195.22        2,046,756.92        2,307,872.36        3,411,455.03        

Veteran Owned Businesses 114,332.00           170,215.00           54,088.25              1,153,951.73        

Grand Total 2,053,527.22$      2,216,971.92$      2,361,960.61$      4,565,406.76$      

BFAC 017



TAB 6 

BFAC 018



 

Budget, Finance & Audit Committee 
October 7, 2022 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

1 
 

Quarterly Report of Income Producing Contracts of $100,000 or More 
For the Period Ended June 30, 2022 (Q4FY22) 

 
 
Federal Grants: 

Provider 
                      Name 

                  Type of 
                 Contract 

Income 
Q4FY22 

    Principal Investigator (PI)/ 
          College/Department 

        End 
        Date 

U.S. Department of Health  
& Human Services 

Early Head Start Grant $1,139,827 Erin Soto 
COE/Family Dev Center 

12/31/2024 

U.S. Small Business  
Administration 

Shuttered Venue Operators  
Grant  

$392,176 Svetlana Rogachevskaya 
CAS/Div. of Communication-Visu  

and Performing Arts 

1/16/2023 

U.S. Department of Health  
& Human Services, passed 
through the Illinois      
Department of Human Services 

Block Grants for Prevention    
and Treatment of Substance Abu  
 

$133,894 Cheryl Mejta  
CHHS/Addiction Studies and 
Behavioral Health 

6/30/2022 

U.S Department of Education, 
passed through the Illinois  
Board of Higher Education 

IL Tutoring Initiative Grant $211,745 Shannon Dermer 
COE 

6/30/2023 

U.S. Department of Commerce Cluster Grants $116,520 Jun Zhao; Olumide Ijose 
COB/ Management 

9/30/2023 

U.S. Department of Health  
& Human Services 

Mental and Behavioral Health 
Education and Training Grants 

$106,347 Cheryl Mejta 
CHHS/Addiction Studies and 

Behavioral Health  

8/31/2025 

U.S. Department of Health  
& Human Services 

Substance Abuse and Mental 
Health Services Grant 

$104,029 Shannon Dermer 
COE/Counseling 

9/29/2022 

BFAC 019



 

Budget, Finance & Audit Committee 
October 7, 2022 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

2 
 

 
 
State Grants: 
                  Provider 
                    Name 

   Type of 
  Contract 

Income 
Q4FY22 

    Principal Investigator (PI)/ 
         College/Department 

        End 
        Date 

IL State Board of Education Pre-K Block Grant, and  
Pre-K Expansion Grant 

$389,507 Erin Soto 
COE/Family Development Ctr  

6/30/2022  

Illinois Network of Child  
Care Resource and Referral  
Agencies 

Child Care Restoration  
Grant 

$279,161 
 
($51,461 of this  
amount is  
federally funded) 

Erin Soto  
COE/ Family Development Ctr 

State Portion: 
6/30/2022 
 
Federal  
Portion:  
5/31/2022 

 
 
Others: 
                 Provider 
                   Name 

                                                 Type of 
                                                 Contract 

Income 
Q4FY22 

Various Clients - Extended 
Learning 

Training programs for professional development/continuing  
professional education to individuals, school districts, and  
employees of certain private organizations 

$777,924 

Clearwire Spectrum Holdings Broadband Lease of Excess Channels $319,797 
Various Clients - Foster Pride 
Program 

Online training curriculum $155,980 

 

BFAC 020



 

Budget, Finance & Audit Committee 
October 7, 2022 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

3 
 

Note:  The above agreements and concessionary contracts generate income to the University throughout the fiscal year. Quarterly reports 
will be provided at the subsequent Budget, Finance & Audit Committee meetings if income generated equals $100,000 or more as required 
by University Regulations V.C.2. 

Resource/Contact: Corey S. Bradford, PhD, Vice President for Administration and Finance; cbradford2@govst.edu; 708.235.7421 

BFAC 021



TAB 7 

BFAC 022



 

Budget, Finance & Audit Committee 
October 7, 2022 

 
 
 

 
 

 REPORT ON FISCAL YEAR 2021 AUDIT AND FINANCIAL RESULTS 
  

The State of Illinois Office of the Auditor General (“OAG”) is authorized by the Illinois State Auditing 
Act (30 ILCS 5/) to conduct an annual Financial Audit, Federal Compliance Audit, and State Compliance 
Audit (each, a “Single Audit” and together, the “Audits”) of every State agency. 
 

      The Audits for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2021 (“FY21”), were conducted on behalf of the OAG by 
the independent auditing firm of Borschnack Pelletier & Co, in the 6th fiscal year of their 6-year audit 
engagement.  This firm also audits other Illinois state public universities and agencies.    

  
The Financial Audit Report was released by the OAG on June 16, 2022, while the Federal and State 
Compliance Audit Reports were released by the OAG on July 13, 2022.  These reports are available publicly 
at the OAG website and are also included in the board packet. 
 
Management’s Responsibility 
 
• Preparation and fair presentation of financial statements in accordance with accounting principles 

generally accepted in the United States. 
• Design, implementation, and maintenance of internal controls over the preparation and fair 

presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, and over compliance 
with State and Federal requirements. 

 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
 
• Perform the Audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States; the 

standards applicable to financial audits and attestation engagements contained in Government Auditing 
Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; attestation standards established by 
the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants; the Audit Guide for Financial Audits and 
Compliance Attestation Engagements of Illinois State Agencies as adopted by the OAG; the Illinois 
State Auditing Act; and the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations, Part 200, 
Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards. 

• Review internal controls over financial reporting and over compliance with Federal and State 
requirements. 

• Form and express and opinion about whether the financial statements are prepared, in all material 
respects, in conformity with the applicable financial accounting framework; and form an opinion on 
the University’s compliance with Federal and State requirements. 

 
  

BFAC 023



 

Budget, Finance & Audit Committee 
October 7, 2022 

 
 
 

 
 
Auditor’s Results 
 
Clean Audit Opinion on University Financial Statements 
 
The auditors have expressed an unmodified opinion (clean opinion) on the University’s financial 
statements, which is the best possible outcome.  GSU’s financial statements as of and for the year ended 
June 30, 2021 are presented fairly, in all material respects, in accordance with the accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States. 
  
Fiscal Year 2021 financial position and results of operations as compared to Fiscal Year 2020 
 

 
 

• Net position represents the University’s equity and is a way to measure the financial health of the 
University. 

• The University’s financial position shows stronger financial resources as the University amortized 
debt and grew unrestricted net assets. 

• Cash & cash equivalents/investments and capital assets represent a significant portion of the 
University’s assets. 

• Long-term debt (Revenue Bonds and Certificates of Participation) represents a significant portion 
of the Universities liabilities. 

• Deferred inflows and outflows pertain to the changes in actuarial calculation related to pension and 
other post-employment benefits (“OPEB”), as provided by the State of Illinois.  The significant 
decrease was mainly due to the effect of the State’s prior period adjustments related to OPEB. 

  

(Amounts in '000) FY 2021 FY 2020 $ Change % Change
Total Assets 194,996$       194,668$       328$             0.2%
Total Liabilities 66,726           72,337           (5,611)           -7.8%
Net Deferred Inflows (Outflows) of Resources 3,931             19,361           (15,430)         -79.7%
Total Net Position 124,339$       102,970$       21,369$        20.8%

Financial Position (Balance Sheet)

BFAC 024



 

Budget, Finance & Audit Committee 
October 7, 2022 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

• The University has generated positive operating results for both FY 2021 and FY 2020. 
• Tuition & fees, grants & contracts, and State appropriations (including payments on-behalf) 

represent a significant portion of the University’s revenues. 
• Salaries and benefits represent a significant portion of the University’s expenses. 
• The significant increases in revenues and expenses are mostly attributable to the payments made 

on behalf of the University by the State of Illinois for retirement and medical insurance benefits 
(recognized both as revenues and expenditures in the financial statements, in accordance with 
accounting standards. 

 
Audit Report Findings 
 
The University is subject to a large number of laws, rules and regulations.  Just the Illinois statutory 
mandates alone subject the University to about 749 mandates.  The University is also required to comply 
with the Illinois Administrative Rules, Federal Laws/Regulations, Accounting Principles/Standards, and 
the Information Systems and Cybersecurity Standards. 
 
Since FY16, the University has made significant progress in addressing audit findings.  For FY21, the 
University’s audit ended with 15 report findings compared to 11 report findings in FY20.  The average 
number of findings received for all nine Illinois public universities was 15 reported findings.   
 

 
   
The University takes these findings seriously and corrective actions are being taken to address these 
findings.  We are confident that with the hiring of a University Compliance Officer and an internal auditor 
staffer, along with strengthening various University processes and procedures, the University will continue 
to make progress in all areas of compliance.  It should be noted that five (5) of GSU’s audit findings are 
similar to the findings of other Illinois State institutions (i.e., findings 2021-001 census data reconciliation, 
2021-009 timesheet not properly maintained, 2021-010 weaknesses in cyber security programs and 
practices, 2021-011 computer security weaknesses, and 2021-012 lack of review of internal controls over 
service providers).   
 

(Amounts in '000) FY 2021 FY 2020 $ Change % Change
Total revenues 133,179$       109,272$       23,907$         21.9%
Total expenses 128,705         99,718           28,987           29.1%
Net Income (Loss) 4,474$           9,554$           

Results of Operations (Income Statement)

FY21 FY20 FY19 FY18 FY17 FY16
Number of Findings 15 11 12 19 19 20
Repeated Findings 8 8 8 12 13 5
Corrected Findings (Not Repeated) 3 4 11 7 7 2
New Findings 7 3 4 7 6 15

BFAC 025



 

Budget, Finance & Audit Committee 
October 7, 2022 

 
 
 

 
 
Details of the FY21 audit findings, along with the related corrective action plans were included in the board 
packet.  The University is committed to instituting corrective actions that will affect positive change, 
increase accountability, and foster compliance with all laws, regulations, and policies that govern the 
University. 

BFAC 026



FISCAL YEAR 2021 AUDIT 
AND FINANCIAL RESULTS

GOVERNORS STATE UNIVERSITY

BFAC 027



 As required by the Illinois State Auditing Act (30 ILCS 5/), the University is subject to Financial Audit,
Federal Compliance Audit (Single Audit), and State Compliance Audit (“Audits”) by the State of Illinois
Office of the Auditor General (OAG) on an annual basis.

 The audits for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2021 were conducted on behalf of the OAG by the
independent auditing firm Borschnack Pelletier & Company.

 The University is subject to a large number of laws, rules and regulations. Just the Illinois Statutory
Mandates alone, the University is subject to about 749 mandates. In addition to this, the University is
also required to comply with the Illinois Administrative Rules, Federal Laws/Regulations, Accounting
Principles/Standards, and the Information Systems and Cybersecurity Standards.

 The auditors have expressed an unmodified opinion (clean opinion) on the University’s Fiscal Year
2021 financial statements. This means that GSU financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position and results of operations and cash flows of the University as of and for
the year ended June 30, 2021 in accordance with the accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America.

 For Fiscal Year 2021, the University’s audit ended with 15 audit report findings. Except for the finding
on census data (which was issued to all Illinois State public universities), none of the findings were
considered as material weakness.

AUDIT SUMMARY

BFAC 028



 Net position represents the University’s equity and is a way to measure the financial health of the
University.

 The University’s financial position shows stronger financial resources as the University amortized debt
and grew unrestricted net assets.

 Deferred inflows and outflows pertains to the changes in actuarial calculation related to pension and
other post-employment benefits (OPEB), as provided by the State of Illinois. The significant decrease
was mainly due to the effect of the State’s prior period adjustments related to OPEB.

FY 2021 FY 2020 $ Change % Change

Total Assets $ 194,996 $ 194,668 $  328 0.2%

Total Liabilities 66,726 72,337 (5,611) -7.8%

Net Deferred Inflows 
(Outflows) of Resources 3,931 19,361 (15,430) -79.7%

Total Net Position $ 124,339 $ 102,970 $    21,369 20.8%

FINANCIAL POSITION, AT A GLANCE
(Amounts in ‘000)

Note:  Amounts shown above were obtained from the FY 2021 and FY 2020 audited financial statements.

BFAC 029



COMPONENTS OF ASSETS 
(Amounts in ‘000)

FY 2021 FY 2020 $ Change % Change
Cash & Equivalents $    59,847 $      52,203 $        7,644 14.6%

Restricted Cash and Investments 9,940 13,749 (3,809) -27.7%

Accounts Receivable, Net 4,200 4,856 (656) -13.5%

Grants Receivable 5,255 2,354 2,901 123.2%

State Appropriation Receivable - 4,957 (4,957) -100.0%

Student Loans Receivable, Net 1,493 1,908 (415) -21.7%

Capital Assets, Net 112,087 111,297 790 0.7%

Other Assets 2,174 3,344 (1,170) -35.0%

Total Assets $  194,996 $    194,668 $          328 0.2%

Note:  Amounts shown above were obtained from the FY 2021 and FY 2020 audited financial statements.

BFAC 030



ANALYSIS OF CHANGES IN ASSETS
FY 2021 vs FY 2020
 Cash and equivalents increased by $7.6 million (14.6%) mostly due to the overall increase in the University’s net position during FY 2021,

timing of vendor payments, and timing of collections from students.

 Restricted cash and investments represents the proceeds from the University’s issuance of Certificates of Participation during FY 2019,
which were invested pending expenditure for the University’s deferred maintenance projects. Balance decreased by $3.8 million (27.7%)
as the proceeds were spent for deferred maintenance projects.

 Net accounts receivable decreased by $0.6 million (13.5%) mainly due to timing of payments from students.

 Grants receivable increased by $2.9 million (123.2%) due to the overall increase in Federal and State grant funding associated with the
COVID-19 relief grants.

 State appropriation receivable represents the amounts vouchered against State appropriations that were uncollected as of the end of the
fiscal year. Balance decreased by $5.0 million (100%) mainly due to the timely receipt of appropriations from the State of Illinois. At the
end of FY 2021, the University received 100% of its FY 2021 appropriations from the State of Illinois.

 Student loans receivable mostly represents Federal Perkins Loans. Balance decreased by $0.4 million (21.7%) due to loan collections.
The U.S. Department of Education has curtailed the awarding of any Federal Perkins Loans after 9/30/17; thus, balance is expected to
decline in coming years as existing Federal Perkins Loans are repaid by the students without replacement of new loans to students.

 Net capital assets increased by $0.8 million (0.7%) primarily due to the $5.5 million costs incurred during FY 2021 in connection with the
various deferred maintenance projects and acquisitions of equipment, computer software, and library collections; partially offset by the
$4.7 million depreciation expense recognized during FY 2021.

 Other assets consist of prepaid expenses, inventories, amount due from GSU Foundation (related to scholarships), and amount due from
the State of Illinois Capital Development Board (CDB). Balance decreased by $1.2 million (35%) mostly due to the $2.0 million amount
due from CDB that was fully reimbursed by the University from the State during FY 2021; partially offset by the $0.2 million increase in
inventories mostly related to COVID-19 supplies, and $0.6 million increase in prepaid expenses related to software subscriptions.

BFAC 031



34%

7%

57%

2%

FY 2020

CASH & CASH EQUIVALENTS/INVESTMENTS AND CAPITAL 
ASSETS REPRESENT A SIGNIFICANT PORTION OF THE 
UNIVERSITY’S ASSETS

36%

6%

57%

1%

FY 2021

BFAC 032



COMPONENTS OF LIABILITIES 
(Amounts in ‘000)

FY 2021 FY 2020 $ Change % Change
Accounts Payable $      8,275 $        9,474 ($        1,199) -12.7%

Accrued Compensated Absences 4,459 3,805 654 17.2%

Unearned Revenue 3,604 2,983 621 20.8%

Revenue Bonds Payable 21,263 22,219 (956) -4.3%

Certificates of Participation Payable 19,415 21,342 (1,927) -9.0%

Other Post Employment 
Benefits (OPEB) Payable 6,569 8,997 (2,428) -27.0%

Refundable Grants 2,475 2,915 (440) -15.1%

Other Liabilities 666 602 64 10.6%

Total Liabilities $    66,726 $    72,337 ($       5,611) -7.8%

Note:  Amounts shown above were obtained from the FY 2021 and FY 2020 audited financial statements.

BFAC 033



ANALYSIS OF CHANGES IN LIABILITIES
FY 2021 vs FY 2020
 Accounts payable decreased by $1.2 million (12.7%) primarily due to timing of vendor payments and student refunds.

 Accrued compensated absences represents the University’s liability for unused compensable leave benefits. Balance increased by
$0.7 million (17.2%) due to minimal usage of compensable benefits during the COVID-19 pandemic.

 Unearned revenue represents revenues collected as of the end of the fiscal year but related to the subsequent accounting period.
Balance increased by $0.6 million (20.8%) primarily due to higher level of collections during the fiscal year that are attributable to the
tuition and fees for the following fiscal year (Summer and Fall registrations both start in March), and the deferral of revenues related
to AIM High grant funding that were provided by the Illinois Student Assistance Commission (ISAC) to the University in advance.

 Revenue bonds payable (Series 2007 and 2012) decreased by $1.0 million (4.3%) primarily due to principal payments made during
the fiscal year.

 Certificates of participation payable (Series 2008 and 2018) decreased by $1.9 million (9.0%) primarily due principal payments made
during the year.

 Other post employment benefits payable represents the University’s allocated share of the State of Illinois’ OPEB liability resulting
from the adoption of the new governmental accounting standards in FY18. This amount is calculated and provided by the State of
Illinois to all Illinois State agencies every year. Balance decreased by $2.4 million (27.0%) due to the decrease in the University’s
allocated share of the State’s OPEB liability as of the end of FY 2021.

 Refundable grants represents the U.S. Department of Education’s (grantor) share of the Federal Perkins Loan Program fund.
Balance decreased by $0.4 million (15.1%) primarily due to the return of Perkins Loan Program’s excess funds to the U.S
Department of Education during FY 2021.

 Other liabilities mostly consists of the University's obligation related to the acquisition of computer software through a multi-year
licensing agreement (intangible assets payable). There is no significant change during FY 2021 as compared to FY 2020.

BFAC 034



19%
4%

31%30%

12%

4%

FY 2020

LONG-TERM DEBT (REVENUE BONDS AND CERTIFICATES 
OF PARTICIPATION) REPRESENTS A SIGNIFICANT PORTION 
OF THE UNIVERSITY’S LIABILITIES

20%

5%

32%

29%

10%

4%

FY 2021

BFAC 035



COMPONENTS OF NET POSITION
(Amounts in ‘000)

FY 2021 FY 2020 $ Change % Change
Net Investments in Capital Assets $    79,294 $      78,159 $       1,135 1.5%

Restricted Expendable 2,178 2,258 (80) -3.5%

Unrestricted 42,867 22,553 20,314 90.0%

Total Net Position $  124,339 $    102,970 $       21,369 20.8%

 Net investments in capital assets consist of capital assets net of accumulated depreciation, reduced by the outstanding debt
obligations that are attributable to the acquisition, construction or improvement of those assets (net of the related unspent proceeds
of those debt obligations). Balance increased by $1.1 million (1.5%) primarily due to the costs incurred during FY 2021 in connection
with the various deferred maintenance projects and acquisitions of equipment, computer software, and library collections, net of
depreciation expense.

 Restricted expendable consists of resources in which the University is legally or contractually obligated to spend in accordance with
restrictions imposed by external third parties. This includes the University’s share of the Federal Perkins Loan Program fund, and
the amount held for debt service (principal and interest) due July 1st. There is no significant change during FY 2021 as compared to
FY 2020.

 Unrestricted consists of resources that are not included in the determination of net investment in capital assets or the restricted
component of net position. These resources are used for transactions relating to the educational and general operations of the
University and may be used at the discretion of the governing board to meet current expenses for any purpose. Balance significantly
increased by $20.3 million (20.8%) due to the positive operating results during FY 2021 ($4.5 million), coupled with the State’s
allocation adjustment on the University’s proportionate share of OPEB balances ($16.9 million).

Note:  Amounts shown above were obtained from the FY 2021 and FY 2020 audited financial statements.

BFAC 036



RESULTS OF OPERATIONS, AT A GLANCE
(Amounts in ‘000)

FY 2021 FY 2020 $ Change % Change

Total Revenues $  133,179 $  109,272 $  23,907 21.9%

Total Expenses 128,705 99,718 28,987 29.1%
Net Income (Loss) $      4,474 $      9,554

 The University has generated positive operating results for both FY 2021 and FY 2020.

 The significant increases in revenues and expenses are mostly attributable to the payments
made on behalf of the University by the State of Illinois for retirement and medical insurance
benefits (recognized both as revenues and expenditures in the financial statements, in
accordance with accounting standards.

Note:  Amounts shown above were obtained from the FY 2021 and FY 2020 audited financial statements.

BFAC 037



COMPONENTS OF REVENUES
(Amounts in ‘000)

FY 2021 FY 2020 $ Change % Change
Net Tuition & Fees $    33,437 $      34,855 ($       1,418) -4.1%

Grants and Contracts 27,283 21,286 5,997 28.2%

Auxiliary Enterprises 1,673 3,345 (1,672) -5.0%

State Appropriation 23,193 23,193 - 0.0%

Payments Made on Behalf 43,606 22,379 21,227 94.9%

Investment Income 110 961 (851) -88.6%

Capital Appropriations and Grants 
Provided by the State of Illinois 2,567 1,106 1,461 132.1%

Other Revenues 1,310 2,147 (837) -39.0%

Total Revenues $  133,179 $    109,272 $     23,907 21.9%

Note:  Amounts shown above were obtained from the FY 2021 and FY 2020 audited financial statements.

BFAC 038



ANALYSIS OF CHANGES IN REVENUES
FY 2021 vs FY 2020
 Net tuition and fees decreased by $1.4 million (4.1%) due to 4% decrease in credit hours from 104,643 in AY 2019-2020 to 100,393 in AY 2020-

2021.

 Grants and contracts increased by $6.0 million (28.2%) mostly due to the various new Federal COVID-19 relief grant funding received from the
Federal government, coupled with the new Illinois State AIM HIGH grant funding received from the State of Illinois.

 Auxiliary enterprises mostly consist of revenues from housing, parking, bookstore, food service, and center for performing arts operations. Amount
decreased by $1.7 million (5.0%) as the operations of these auxiliary enterprises were significantly impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic during FY
2021.

 State appropriation received by the University from the State of Illinois is at the same level in FY 2021 and FY 2020.

 Payments made on behalf represents the University’s proportionate share of State funded retirement and medical insurance (health, life, and dental)
benefits. Related expense (the same amount) is also recognized as part of the University’s total expenses, in accordance with accounting standards.
These amounts are provided by the State of Illinois every year. Amount increased by $21.2 million (94.9%) primarily due to the increase in the
University’s proportionate share of State funded retirement and medical insurance benefits during FY 2021.

 Investment income decreased by $0.9 million (88.6%) as the invested proceeds of Certificates of Participation issued by the University during FY
2019 were expended for deferred maintenance projects during FY 2021; thus, lower cash balances were available for investments. In addition,
money market interest rates significantly declined during FY 2021 due to the COVID-19 pandemic.

 Capital appropriations and grants provided by the State of Illinois represent capital projects funded by the Illinois Capital Development Board (CDB).
Amount increased by $1.5 million (132.1%) primarily due to the additional project expenditures incurred for various CDB-funded projects that are
ongoing during FY 2021 (main building roofing, campus roadway and sidewalk improvements, and piping projects).

 Other revenues mostly consist of revenues related to the foster pride online programs, tower ground lease, broadband lease of excess channels, and
Family Development Center (FDC) childcare fees. Amount decreased by $0.8 million (39.0%) mostly due to the decrease in FDC revenues due to
the overall economic challenges caused by the COVID-19 pandemic.

BFAC 039



32%

19%

3%

21%

21%

1%

1% 2%

FY 2020

TUITION & FEES, GRANTS & CONTRACTS, AND 
APPROPRIATIONS FROM THE STATE (INCLUDING 
PAYMENTS ON-BEHALF) REPRESENT A SIGNIFICANT 
PORTION OF THE UNIVERSITY’S REVENUES

25%

21%

1%18%

32%

0%

2%

1%

FY 2021

BFAC 040



COMPONENTS OF EXPENSES
(Amounts in ‘000)

FY 2021 FY 2020 $ Change % Change
Salaries $    53,113 $      49,931 $       3,182 6.4%

Benefits 45,342 18,958 26,384 139.2%

Total Salaries and Benefits 98,455 68,889 29,566 42.9%

Student Aid 8,635 7,408 1,227 16.6%

Capital Expenditures 2,142 1,103 1,039 94.2%

Services, Supplies and Others 13,061 15,930 (2,869) -18.0%

Depreciation 4,702 4,563 139 3.0%

Interest Expense 1,710 1,825 (115) -6.3%

Total Expenses $  128,705 $      99,718 $       28,987 29.1%

Note:  Amounts shown above were obtained from the FY 2021 and FY 2020 audited financial statements.

BFAC 041



ANALYSIS OF CHANGES IN EXPENSES
FY 2021 vs FY 2020
 Salaries and benefits, representing the University’s largest operating expense, increased by $29.6 million

(42.9%) mostly due to the significant increase in expenses recognized for the University’s proportionate share of
State funded benefits (pension and medical insurance), coupled with the 2.75% across the board salary
increase during FY 2021.

 Student aid increased by $1.2 million (16.6%) mostly due to the increase in Federal and State grant funding that
are available for student awards during FY 2021 (various Federal COVID-19 relief grant funding received from
the Federal Government, and the AIM High grant received from the State of Illinois).

 Capital expenditures increased by $1.0 million (94.2%) as the University continues with its deferred
maintenance project initiatives that were delayed during the budget impasse.

 Services, supplies and others include contractual, commodities, travel, telecoms, and all other expenditures
other than salaries and benefits, student aid, and capital expenditures. Amount decreased by $2.9 million
(18.0%) primarily as a result of reduction in activities due to the COVID-19 pandemic.

 Depreciation represents the reduction in the value of a capitalized asset with the passage of time. There is no
significant change during FY 2021 as compared to FY 2020.

 Interest expense mostly consist of interest from long-term debt. Amount decreased by $0.1 million (6.3%), and
is expected to decrease from year to year as the outstanding principal balances decrease due to principal
payments.

BFAC 042



69%

7%

1%

16%

5%
2%

0%

FY 2020

SALARIES AND BENEFITS REPRESENT A SIGNIFICANT 
PORTION OF THE UNIVERSITY’S EXPENSES

76%
7%

2%

10%

4%

1%

FY 2021

BFAC 043



AUDIT REPORT FINDINGS - FINANCIAL AUDIT
Finding
Number

Finding
Title

Finding
Description

Corrective
Action

Status of 
Corrective Action

2021-001 Inadequate 
Controls Over 
Census Data 
(Repeat)

(Note:  This 
finding was 
issued to all 
the 9 IL public 
universities)

No initial reconciliation performed on 
employee census data with SURS.

No process developed to annually 
obtain census data changes from 
SURS and reconcile against 
University records.

One employee (out of 512 
employees tested) was improperly 
excluded from SURS.

Procedures have been established to 
ensure census data events are reported to 
SURS timely and accurately.  

The University will continue to work with 
SURS to annually reconcile its active 
members’ census data from its underlying 
records to a report of census data 
submitted to SURS’ actuary and CMS’ 
actuary, in accordance with the 
reconciliation process developed by 
SURS.  

On the one employee noted by the 
auditors that was improperly excluded 
from SURS, the University worked with 
SURS and determined the actual impact.  
The related retroactive contributions were 
already remitted by the University to 
SURS.

Implemented.

BFAC 044



AUDIT REPORT FINDINGS - FEDERAL COMPLIANCE
Finding
Number

Finding
Title

Finding
Description

Corrective
Action

Status of 
Corrective Action

2021-002 Exit 
Counseling 
(New)

The University did not timely 
provide exit counseling for 5 
students who ceased half-time 
study at the University.

Procedures have been updated and report is now generated 
every 2 weeks to capture all students who graduated, totally 
withdrew, and dropped below half-time to ensure that exit 
counseling letters are sent out timely.

Implemented.  

2021-003 Enrollment 
Reporting
(New)

The University did not accurately 
and timely report changes in 
student enrollment (graduated 
status) for 2 students to the U.S. 
Department of Education’s 
National Student Loan Data 
System (NSLDS).

Procedures have been updated, and the Registrar’s Office 
has also worked to create a new validation warning code 
that will help identify possible reporting date issues and 
ensure timely and accurate reporting to the NSLDS.

Implemented.  

2021-004 Fiscal 
Operations 
Report (New)

Did not report accurate information 
for two items related to Federal 
Perkins Loan Program.  Second 
submission of the report, which 
included final changes, corrections 
and edits, was not timely filed (34 
days late).

Procedures have been updated to ensure that reporting 
requirements and deadlines are met.  The Office of 
Financial Aid will work with the Office of Financial Services 
to review and ensure that Federal Perkins Loan information 
are accurately reflected in the report.

Implemented.  

2021-005 Federal 
Perkins Loan 
Cohort 
Default Rate 
Too High 
(Repeat)

The Federal Perkins Loan cohort 
default rate as of June 30, 2021 
(for borrowers who entered 
repayment during Fiscal Year 
2020) was 16.67%, which 
exceeded the 15% threshold. 

The University will continue to closely monitor and 
communicate with students entering on default on a month-
to-month basis, in addition to sending defaulted student 
loans to the Illinois State Comptroller’s Offset system.

OAG considers this finding as Level 3 (low level), which 
means no internal control deficiencies as the University has 
done all the federally required due diligence procedures.  

Implemented.  The 
University has made 
significant 
improvement in its 
Perkins cohort default 
rate; from 38.96% in 
FY19 and 22.67% in 
FY20, to 16.67% in 
FY21.

BFAC 045



AUDIT REPORT FINDINGS - STATE COMPLIANCE
Finding
Number

Finding
Title

Finding
Description

Corrective
Action

Status of 
Corrective Action

2021-006 Child Abuse Reporter 
Training (Repeat)

Certain employees either did 
not receive the training or did 
not have the proper training 
documentation.

The University now asks new employees to take their 
online training before or during new hire orientation.  
The University is also in the process of automating its 
onboarding process, which will require all new hires to 
complete training using the up-to-date forms through 
the PeopleAdmin system.

Partially implemented.  The 
automation of onboarding 
process is underway.

2021-007 Noncompliance with the 
Campus Security and 
Enhancement Act of 2008 
(Repeat)

1 employee hired for a security 
sensitive position without any 
evidence the criminal 
background investigation was 
ever obtained; 5 employees did 
not have a criminal background 
investigation completed prior to 
employment.

The University has secured a new vendor to conduct 
criminal background investigations prior to hiring 
employees for all positions, not just security sensitive 
positions, and has developed a formalized 
comprehensive policy on criminal background checks 
similar to other State universities.  This was passed by 
the Board on 6/10/22 (Section II.A.24 of the GSU 
Board of Trustees Regulations).

Partially implemented.  The 
University is in the process 
of evaluating conducting 
background checks for 
current employees who 
hold security sensitive 
positions but have no 
background check on file 
and will perform such 
check if feasible.

2021-008 Internal Audit Deficiencies 
(Repeat)

Not all major systems of 
accounting and administrative 
controls were included in the 
audit at least every 2 years; no 
Internal Audit Report provided 
to the auditors for 6 audits that 
were reported as completed.

Audit supporting documentation for the 6 audits were 
completed after the auditors’ testing, covering all major 
systems.  The Office of Internal Audit is currently hiring 
an Internal Audit staff to provide additional support to 
the department.

Partially implemented.  The 
hiring of an additional 
Internal Audit staff to 
provide additional support 
is underway.

2021-009 Time Sheets Not Properly 
Maintained (Repeat)

(Note:  This finding was 
issued to 6 of the IL public 
universities)

The University is not 
maintaining time sheets for its 
faculty members and advisors 
in compliance with the State 
Officials and Employees Ethics 
Act (Act).

The University is currently developing a policy, revising 
its procedures, and reviewing existing time reporting 
requirements for faculty employees in connection with 
its implementation of an electronic timekeeping system.

In-progress.

BFAC 046



AUDIT REPORT FINDINGS - STATE COMPLIANCE (I.T.)
Finding
Number

Finding
Title

Finding
Description

Corrective
Action

Status of 
Corrective Action

2021-010 Weaknesses in Cybersecurity 
Programs and Practices (Repeat)

(Note:  This finding was issued to 
8 of the IL public universities)

University had not implemented 
adequate internal controls related 
to cybersecurity programs and 
practices.

Establish a formal cybersecurity plan; provide cybersecurity training 
to contractors; ensure employees complete cybersecurity training; 
develop and document risk management and data classification 
methodology to manage security risks; develop and communicate 
the University security program. 

Partially implemented. 
Two remediations 
completed. Several 
remediations are 
75%-99% completed 
and several under 
25% complete.

2021-011 Computer Security Weaknesses 
(Repeat)

(Note:  This finding was issued to 
7 of the IL public universities)

User accounts not removed for 
terminated employees; no formal 
guidelines established for 
configuration of virus detection 
software.

Maintain a complete inventory of all computers; improved processes 
(including automation), documentation, policies, procedures, and 
logging
changes to user access and rights to applications are planned as 
part of an account lifecycle management reconstruction; establish 
formal policies and guidelines for virus detection systems.

In-progress. Two 
remediations at 25% 
completed.

2021-012 Lack of Review of Internal Controls 
Over Service Providers (New)

(Note:  This finding was issued to 
7 of the IL public universities)

University did not obtain or conduct 
timely independent internal controls 
reviews over its service providers. 

The University has established a vendor risk management process, 
which covers cloud service providers, and has hired an Extra Help 
employee to help make additional progress.  As of this time, ITS has 
satisfactorily completed reviews for more than 50% of the 
University’s service providers. 

In-progress. All four 
remediations are 
between 50%-75% 
completed.

2021-013 Remote Access to University 
Information Systems (New)

University has not developed and 
documented adequate policies and 
procedures governing remote 
access to the University’s 
information systems. 

Maintain records of users’ acknowledgment and acceptance of 
Policy 64 (Computing and Networking); develop, document and 
disseminate policies and procedures governing the security and 
control of remote access, and governing incident and breach 
notification requirements. 

Partially implemented. 
One remediation 
completed.  A few 
remediation still to 
start.

2021-014 Inadequate Controls Over Access 
Rights (New)

University did not maintain 
adequate controls over user access 
rights
to applications and data. 

Maintain an accurate listing of ERP users; re-evaluate procedures 
for the assignment of access rights to ERP system users and 
regularly re-determine if the rights granted remain appropriate; 
establish a period of separation and inactivity after which student 
accounts are disabled.

In-progress. 
Remediation at 25% 
completed.

2021-015 Weaknesses With Payment Card 
Industry Data Security Standards 
(New)

University had not completed all 
requirements to demonstrate full 
compliance with the Payment Card 
Industry Data Security Standards 
(PCI DSS).

Establish a separate PCI DSS policy; hired an Extra Help employee 
to assist with PCI DSS compliance efforts; document the PCI DSS 
compliance of each service provider; complete an annual inventory 
and review of all payment points and terminal locations; perform an 
upgrade of non-compliance credit card readers; provide an annual 
security training to employees involved in the processing of 
cardholder data.

Partially implemented.  
One remediation 
completed. All others 
at 25% completed.

BFAC 047



Questions and Answers

BFAC 048



BFAC 049



BFAC 050



BFAC 051



BFAC 052



BFAC 053



BFAC 054



BFAC 055



BFAC 056



BFAC 057



BFAC 058



BFAC 059



BFAC 060



BFAC 061



BFAC 062



BFAC 063



BFAC 064



BFAC 065



BFAC 066



BFAC 067



BFAC 068



BFAC 069



BFAC 070



BFAC 071



BFAC 072



BFAC 073



BFAC 074



BFAC 075



BFAC 076



BFAC 077



BFAC 078



BFAC 079



BFAC 080



BFAC 081



BFAC 082



BFAC 083



BFAC 084



BFAC 085



BFAC 086



BFAC 087



BFAC 088



BFAC 089



BFAC 090



BFAC 091



BFAC 092



BFAC 093



BFAC 094



BFAC 095



BFAC 096



BFAC 097



BFAC 098



BFAC 099



BFAC 100



BFAC 101



BFAC 102



BFAC 103



BFAC 104



BFAC 105



BFAC 106



BFAC 107



BFAC 108



BFAC 109



BFAC 110



BFAC 111



BFAC 112



BFAC 113



BFAC 114



BFAC 115



BFAC 116



BFAC 117



BFAC 118



BFAC 119



BFAC 120



BFAC 121



BFAC 122



BFAC 123



BFAC 124



BFAC 125



BFAC 126



BFAC 127



BFAC 128



BFAC 129



BFAC 130



BFAC 131



BFAC 132



BFAC 133



BFAC 134



BFAC 135



BFAC 136



BFAC 137



BFAC 138



BFAC 139



BFAC 140



BFAC 141



BFAC 142



BFAC 143



BFAC 144



BFAC 145



BFAC 146



BFAC 147



BFAC 148



BFAC 149



BFAC 150



BFAC 151



BFAC 152



BFAC 153



BFAC 154



BFAC 155



BFAC 156



BFAC 157



BFAC 158



BFAC 159



BFAC 160



BFAC 161



BFAC 162



BFAC 163



BFAC 164



BFAC 165



BFAC 166



BFAC 167



BFAC 168



BFAC 169



BFAC 170



BFAC 171



BFAC 172



BFAC 173



BFAC 174



BFAC 175



BFAC 176



BFAC 177



BFAC 178



BFAC 179



BFAC 180



BFAC 181



BFAC 182



BFAC 183



BFAC 184



BFAC 185



BFAC 186



BFAC 187



BFAC 188



BFAC 189



BFAC 190



BFAC 191



BFAC 192



BFAC 193



BFAC 194



BFAC 195



BFAC 196



BFAC 197



BFAC 198



BFAC 199



BFAC 200



BFAC 201



BFAC 202



BFAC 203



BFAC 204



BFAC 205



BFAC 206



BFAC 207



BFAC 208



BFAC 209



BFAC 210



BFAC 211



BFAC 212



BFAC 213



BFAC 214



BFAC 215



BFAC 216



BFAC 217



BFAC 218



BFAC 219



BFAC 220



BFAC 221



BFAC 222



BFAC 223



BFAC 224



BFAC 225



BFAC 226



BFAC 227



BFAC 228



BFAC 229



BFAC 230



BFAC 231



BFAC 232



BFAC 233



BFAC 234



BFAC 235



BFAC 236



BFAC 237



BFAC 238



BFAC 239



BFAC 240



BFAC 241



BFAC 242



BFAC 243



BFAC 244



BFAC 245



BFAC 246



BFAC 247



BFAC 248



BFAC 249



BFAC 250



BFAC 251



BFAC 252



BFAC 253



BFAC 254



BFAC 255



BFAC 256



BFAC 257



BFAC 258



BFAC 259



BFAC 260



BFAC 261



BFAC 262



BFAC 263



TAB 8 

BFAC 264



 

Budget, Finance & Audit Committee 
October 7, 2022 

 
 
 

 

1 
 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
Resolution 23-XX 

Resolution for the Approval of FY2023 Operating Budget 
 

I. ACTION ITEM:  Approval of Fiscal Year 2023 (“FY2023”) Operating 
Budget as set forth in the proposed resolution submitted herewith.  
 
II. BACKGROUND: The Board of Trustees of Governors State University 
(the “Board,” and “University,” respectively) historically approves the operating 
budget for the University at its October meeting. With all known factors in place, we 
present the FY2023 Operating Budget for approval. The Fiscal Year 2023 Operating 
Budget reflects the final actions of the Governor and the Illinois General Assembly 
for the State budget general funds budgets. Resources have been directed to support 
the University’s highest priorities and to maintain ongoing operations.  
 
The University plans an operating budget based on a fiscal year that runs from July 1 
to the following June 30. The current proposed action item requests approval of an 
operating budget for July 1, 2022 to June 30, 2023. The proposed FY2023 Operating 
Budget is the same as that which was approved by the Board on a preliminary basis 
at the June 10, 2022 meeting. 
 
Approval of this proposal will enable the University to meet its statutory obligation 
to submit a budget to the Illinois Board of Higher Education (“IBHE”) by 
November 15 of each year. See 110 ILCS 205/8. 
 
III. ANALYSIS: At the June 10, 2022 Board meeting, the President 
recommended and the Board approved a preliminary FY2023 Operating Budget 
granting the University spending authority between July 1, 2022 and the October 
2022 meeting, at which time the Board would review the University’s FY2023 
operating budget again and approve the final figures. The preliminary operating 
budget constituted a conservative estimate of revenues and expenditures of 
$58,500,000. The final enacted State appropriation of $24,353,300, along with 
University income fund revenues based on enrollment census data, provide for a 
balanced budget. 
 
The attached represents the core or “State Funds” final operating budget proposed 
for FY2023 in the amount of $58,500,000. The revenues to support the budget come 
from a combination of the annual State of Illinois appropriation to the University 
plus the revenues projected to be generated by net tuition, user fees, and interest 

BFAC 265



 

Budget, Finance & Audit Committee 
October 7, 2022 

 
 
 

 

2 
 

income.  
 
Through our collaborative PBAC (Planning and Budget Advisory Council) process, 
which involves discussions with constituencies and many individuals at all levels within 
the University, we have developed a FY2023 Operating Budget in line with the State 
appropriations and have further considered the lingering impact of COVID-19 on our 
operations as well as the implementation of our Strategic Enrollment Plan.   
  

BFAC 266



 

Budget, Finance & Audit Committee 
October 7, 2022 

 
 
 

 

3 
 

 

 
 

BOT Resolution 16-28 established an operating reserve not to exceed 5% of the 
University’s core operating budget. At this time, the FY19 - FY2022 operating 
surplus exceeds that reserve amount, so no Reserve allocation has been 
budgeted for FY2023. 
 
  

FY2023

Revenues:
Income Fund $34,146,700
Appropriation 24,353,300         
Total Revenues $58,500,000

Expenses:
Personnel Services $48,399,209
Fringe Benefits 1,449,578          
Contractual 6,986,732          
Commodities 718,875             
Permanent Improvements 0
Travel 377,931             
Equipment 315,105             
Telecom 194,195             
Auto Operations 37,375               
Awards 21,000               
Reserve 0
Total Expenses: $58,500,000

Governors State University
FY2023 Operating Budget

State Funds (Illinois State Appropriation + University Net Tuition Revenues)

BFAC 267



 

Budget, Finance & Audit Committee 
October 7, 2022 

 
 
 

 

4 
 

IV. Proposed Resolution: A proposed resolution is submitted with this Executive 
Summary. 
 
 

Committee Approval 
 
 

CHAIR: ________________ DATE: _________ 
 
CONSIDERED VOTE: __________________________ 

 

BFAC 268



 

Board of Trustees 
October 21, 2022 

 
 
 

 
 

1 
 
 
 

Resolution No. 23-XX 

Approval of Operating Budget for 

Fiscal Year 2023 

 

WHEREAS, The Board of Trustees of Governors State University (the “Board”) was 

created on January 1, 1996, by Public Act 89-4 to operate, manage, control, and maintain Governors 

State University in accordance with the rights, powers, and duties vested by law in the Board; and 

 

WHEREAS, Article V(A)(1) of the Board of Trustee’s (“Board’s”) Regulations provides 

that the President shall establish guidelines and procedures for establishing an operating budget; and 

WHEREAS, Article V(A)(2) of the Board’s Regulations provides that the President shall 

review and make recommendations on the operating budget and submit it to the Board; and 

WHEREAS, Section 8 of the Board of Higher Education Act, 110 ILCS 205/8, requires the 

Board to submit an operating budget to the Illinois Board of Higher Education by November 15 of 

each year; and 

WHEREAS, The University’s Planning and Budget Advisory Council (“PBAC”), appointed 

by the President and representing a cross-section of University personnel, issued guidelines and held 

hearings regarding budget requests and operating expenses for Fiscal Year 2023 (“FY23) in March 

and April 2022; and  

WHEREAS, As a result of the PBAC hearings and further analysis, the President presented 

to the Budget and Finance Committee (the “Committee,” n/k/a Budget, Finance and Audit 

Committee) a recommended Preliminary Operating Budget for FY23 in a total amount of 

$58,500,000, which constituted a 2.45% increase over year-end actuals for Fiscal Year 2022; and 

WHEREAS, The Board adopted the Committee’s recommended Preliminary Operating 

Budget for FY23 by Resolution 22-35 at a meeting held on June 10, 2022; and 

BFAC 269



 

Board of Trustees 
October 21, 2022 

 
 
 

 
 

2 
 
 
 

WHEREAS, Upon recommendation of the President, the Committee considered a final 

operating budget for FY23 (the “FY23 Operating Budget”) at a meeting held on October 7, 2022 in 

substantially the same form as the Preliminary Operating Budget for FY23 and voted to recommend 

its approval by the Board; therefore 

Resolved, that the Board adopts the Committee’s recommendation for the Operating Budget 

for FY23 as follows: 

 

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank] 

 

BFAC 270



 

Board of Trustees 
October 21, 2022 

 
 
 

 
 

3 
 
 
 

 

Resolved, that the Board directs the President to take all reasonable and necessary steps to 

submit the Operating Budget for FY23 to the IBHE in the format required by the IBHE by the 

November 15, 2022 deadline. 

Approved October 21, 2022 
 
 
_________________________________  _________________________________ 
Angela Sebastian, Chair     James Kvedaras, Secretary 
Board of Trustees     Board of Trustees  

FY2023

Revenues:
Income Fund $34,146,700
Appropriation 24,353,300         
Total Revenues $58,500,000

Expenses:
Personnel Services $48,399,209
Fringe Benefits 1,449,578          
Contractual 6,986,732          
Commodities 718,875             
Permanent Improvements 0
Travel 377,931             
Equipment 315,105             
Telecom 194,195             
Auto Operations 37,375               
Awards 21,000               
Reserve 0
Total Expenses: $58,500,000

Governors State University
FY2023 Operating Budget

State Funds (Illinois State Appropriation + University Net Tuition Revenues)

BFAC 271



TAB 9 

BFAC 272



 

Budget, Finance, & Audit Committee 
October 7, 2022 

 
 
 

 

1 
 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
Resolution 23-XX 

Resolution for the Approval of FY2024 Operating Appropriations Budget 
Request to the Illinois Board of Higher Education 

 
I. ACTION ITEM:  Approve Operating Appropriations Budget Request for 
Fiscal Year 2024 (“FY2024”) to the Illinois Board of Higher Education (“IBHE”).  
 
II. BACKGROUND:  In preparation for the upcoming budget year of July 1, 
2023 to June 30, 2024 (i.e., FY2024), the Illinois public universities submit their 
“State Funds” operating requests (appropriations and university income fund – 
primarily net revenues from tuition and user fees) to IBHE for the forthcoming 
fiscal year. 
 
IBHE compiles and develops these funding requests in order to produce one 
consolidated higher education budget request to the Governor, typically in early 
February for inclusion in the Governor’s Budget Address to the General Assembly 
later that month. In turn, the Governor’s budget request forms the basis for 
appropriation bills, which are introduced into the Assembly and eventually passed by 
the Assembly and signed into law by the Governor.   
 
III. ANALYSIS:  The schedule accompanying this Executive Summary displays 
GSU’s FY2024 preliminary State Funds budget request to IBHE of $60,935,200. 
GSU anticipates flat net tuition revenues and is seeking a total operating funds 
increase for FY2024 of $2.435 million, a 4.2% increase in total University Operating 
Budget year-over-year. The FY2024 operating appropriations request is $26,788,500, 
an increase of $2.435 million over the fiscal year 2023 State appropriations, or a 10% 
increase. The incremental state funds would be used to cover ordinary increases in 
compensation expenses, additional STEM and bilingual faculty, and continuation of 
student support and retention services initially funded through the HEERF Grant. 
 
Last year, we were pleasantly pleased by the IBHE’s new proposed method for 
distributing funds based on equity considerations to those institutions that serve a 
high percentages and numbers of underserved students.  

BFAC 273



 

Budget, Finance, & Audit Committee 
October 7, 2022 

 
 
 

 

2 
 

 
 
  

BFAC 274



 

Budget, Finance, & Audit Committee 
October 7, 2022 

 
 
 

 

3 
 

III. Proposed Resolution:  A proposed resolution is submitted with this Executive 
Summary. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Committee Approval 

 

 

CHAIR: ________________ DATE: _________ 

 

CONSIDERED VOTE: __________________________ 

 

BFAC 275



 
 

 

Board of Trustees 
October 7, 2022 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 

1 
 

Resolution No. 23-XX 

Approval of Operating Appropriations Budget Request to IBHE for 

Fiscal Year 2024 

 

WHEREAS, The Board of Trustees of Governors State University (the “Board”) was 

created on January 1, 1996, by Public Act 89-4 to operate, manage, control, and maintain Governors 

State University in accordance with the rights, powers, and duties vested by law in the Board; and 

 

WHEREAS, The Board is comprised of eight members, seven of whom are appointed by 

the Governor of Illinois with the advice and consent of the Senate, and one whom is a Governors 

State University student selected by student peers; and 

 

WHEREAS, Article V(A)(1) of the Board of Trustee’s (“Board’s”) Regulations provides 

that the President shall establish guidelines and procedures for establishing operating appropriations 

budget requests; and 

WHEREAS, Article V(A)(2) of the Board’s Regulations provides that the President shall 

review and make recommendations on appropriation requests for operating budget expenditures 

and submit them to the Board; and 

WHEREAS, Section 8 of the Board of Higher Education Act, 110 ILCS 205/8, requires the 

Board to submit appropriation requests for operating expenditures for the ensuing year to the 

Illinois Board of Higher Education (“IBHE”) by November 15 of each year; and 

WHEREAS, IBHE compiles and develops these funding requests in order to produce one 

consolidated higher education budget request for the Governor; and 

BFAC 276



 
 

 

Board of Trustees 
October 7, 2022 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 

2 
 

WHEREAS, As a result of the foregoing planning process and further analysis, the 

President presented to the Budget, Finance and Audit Committee (the “Committee”) a 

recommendation for requesting appropriations for operations for the period July 1, 2023 to June 30 

2024 (“FY2024), which the Committee approved at a meeting held on October 7, 2022; therefore 

Resolved, that the Board adopts the Committee’s recommendation for the FY2024 Operating 

Appropriations Budget Request. 

Resolved, that the FY2024 Operating Appropriations Budget Request is approved for 

submission to the IBHE in a format recommended by IBHE as follows: 

 

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank.] 

BFAC 277



 
 

 

Board of Trustees 
October 7, 2022 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 

3 
 

 

  

BFAC 278



 
 

 

Board of Trustees 
October 7, 2022 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 

4 
 

Resolved, that the Board directs the President to take all reasonable and necessary steps to 

timely submit the FY2024 Operating Appropriations Budget Request to the IBHE in the format 

required by the IBHE. 

Approved October 21, 2022 
 
 
_________________________________  _________________________________ 
Angela Sebastian, Chair     James Kvedaras, Secretary 
Board of Trustees     Board of Trustees  
 

BFAC 279



TAB 10 

BFAC 280



 

Budget, Finance & Audit Committee 
October 7, 2022 

 
 
 

1 
 
 
 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
Resolution 23-XX 

Resolution for the Approval of FY2024 Capital Improvement Budget  
to the Illinois Board of Higher Education 

 
 

I. ACTION ITEM:  Approve submission of the Capital Improvement Budget to the Illinois 
Board of Higher Education (“IBHE”) for the ensuing fiscal year of July 1, 2023 to June 30, 2024, fiscal 
year 2024 (“FY2024”). 
 
II. BACKGROUND:  Annually, the State of Illinois prepares a Capital Budget in coordination 
with state agencies seeking capital improvement appropriations. 20 ILCS 3010/1. All state universities, 
including Governors State University (“GSU”), are required by the Illinois Board of Higher 
Education Act to submit capital appropriations requests by November 15. 110 ILCS 205/8. Board 
of Trustees Regulation V(A)(1) requires that the President “shall review and make recommendations 
concerning the requests and submit them to the Board for approval.” Further, once approved, “the 
President shall submit budget requests approved by the Board to the Board of Higher Education 
and shall take such actions on the Board’s behalf as are necessary and appropriate during the Board 
of Higher Education budget review process.” Id. 
 
III. ANALYSIS:  Submitted with this Executive Summary are a proposed resolution to be 
presented to the Board upon consideration and approval by the Budget, Finance and Audit Committee, 
as well as the proposed Capital Improvement Appropriations Request, which appears as Exhibit A to 
the proposed resolution. Both are submitted with the recommendation of the President. 
  

BFAC 281



 

Budget, Finance & Audit Committee 
October 7, 2022 

 
 
 

2 
 
 
 

Resource/Contacts:  John Potempa, Associate VP for Facilities Management & Development; 
jpotempa2@govst.edu; 708.235-7447 and Sandra Zurawski, Executive Director, Budget & Financial 
Planning; szurwski@govst.edu; 708.534.4981 

 

Committee Approval 

 

 

CHAIR: ________________ DATE: _________ 

 

CONSIDERED VOTE: __________________________ 

 

 

BFAC 282



 
 

 

Board of Trustees 
October 21, 2022 

 
 
 

1 
 
 
 

 
 

Resolution No. 23-XX 

Approval of Capital Requests to IBHE for 

Fiscal Year 2024 

 

WHEREAS, The Board of Trustees of Governors State University (the “Board”) was 

created on January 1, 1996, by Public Act 89-4 to operate, manage, control, and maintain Governors 

State University in accordance with the rights, powers, and duties vested by law in the Board; and 

 

WHEREAS, The Board is comprised of eight members, seven of whom are appointed by 

the Governor of Illinois with the advice and consent of the Senate, and one whom is a Governors 

State University student selected by student peers; and 

 

WHEREAS, Article V(A)(1) of the Board of Trustee’s (“Board’s”) Regulations provides 

that the President shall establish guidelines and procedures for establishing capital appropriations 

budget requests; and 

WHEREAS, Article V(A)(2) of the Board’s Regulations provides that the President shall 

review and make recommendations on appropriation requests for capital budget expenditures and 

submit them to the Board; and 

WHEREAS, Section 8 of the Board of Higher Education Act, 110 ILCS 205/8, requires the 

Board to submit appropriation requests for capital expenditures for the ensuing year to the Illinois 

Board of Higher Education (“IBHE”) by November 15 of each year; and 

WHEREAS, The University engaged in a master facilities planning process resulting in a 

Campus Facilities Master Plan approved by the Board by Resolution 23-01 at a meeting held on 

August 5, 2022; and 

BFAC 283



 
 

 

Board of Trustees 
October 21, 2022 

 
 
 

2 
 
 
 

 
 

WHEREAS, As a result of the foregoing planning process and further analysis, the 

President presented to the Budget, Finance and Audit Committee (the “Committee”) a 

recommendation for requesting appropriations for capital improvements in the form attached 

hereto as Exhibit A (the “FY2024 Capital Improvement Budget”), which the Committee approved 

at a meeting held on October 7, 2022; therefore 

Resolved, that the Board adopts the Committee’s recommendation for the FY2024 Capital 

Improvement Budget. 

Resolved, that information contained in the FY2024 Capital Improvement Budget attached 

hereto as Exhibit A is approved for submission to the IBHE in a format recommended by IBHE. 

Resolved, that the Board directs the President to take all reasonable and necessary steps to 

timely submit the FY2024 Capital Improvement Budget to the IBHE in the format required by the 

IBHE. 

Approved October 21, 2022 
 
 
_________________________________  _________________________________ 
Angela Sebastian, Chair     James Kvedaras, Secretary 
Board of Trustees     Board of Trustees  

 

BFAC 284



Exhibit A  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Governors State University 
Capital Improvement Requests for 

Budget Year FY2024 

BFAC 285



Governors State University 
Board of Trustees  

Exhibit A to Resolution 23-XX 
October 21, 2022 

 

1 
 

 

GOVERNORS STATE UNIVERSITY      
LARGE PROJECT PLAN       
BUDGET YEAR FY2024      
Subject to change before October Board Meeting based on continuing discussions with IBHE  

Projected 
Fiscal Year  PROJECT NAME 

TOTAL 
Planning 
Amount  

State 
Appropriation  

 GSU Debt 
COP2018 

        
  NEW CAPITAL INVESTMENT           

NEW FY24  Center for Health Equity (Health Sciences Building) $26,323,000   $26,323,000    

TBD  Building C Addition for Student Security & Safety $2,850,000   $2,850,000    
TBD  Center for Instruction and Innovation $29,865,000   $29,865,000    
TBD  Library and Learning Commons $38,755,000   $38,755,000    
TBD  Student Success Center $35,250,000   $35,250,000    

   
  

    
  REBUILD ILLINOIS PROJECTS - NEW CAPITAL: Need Appropriated Funds Released   

TBD  Academic Building E Extension $3,530,000   $3,530,000    
 
        
  REBUILD ILLINOIS PROJECTS - CAPITAL RENEWAL: Project Currently In Progress with CDB 

2021  HVAC Replacement and Upgrade $4,264,200   $4,264,200    
  

BFAC 286



Governors State University 
Board of Trustees  

Exhibit A to Resolution 23-XX 
October 21, 2022 

 

2 
 

Projected 
Fiscal Year  PROJECT NAME 

TOTAL 
Planning 
Amount  

State 
Appropriation  

 GSU Debt 
COP2018 

 REBUILD ILLINOIS PROJECTS - CAPITAL RENEWAL: Need Appropriated Funds Released   

TBD  
Building E (Sherman Hall & Art Studio Annex) 
Renovation $2,245,000  

 
$2,245,000  

  
TBD  Renovation / Replacement Library:  Library area  $4,050,000   $4,050,000   

 

TBD  Renovation / Replacement Library:  Student Space  $4,800,000   $4,800,000   
 

TBD  
Vehicular/Pedestrian/Parking Lot Renovations:  
North/West Campus  $5,400,000  

 
$5,400,000  

  

TBD  
Vehicular/Pedestrian/Parking Lot Renovations:  
South/East Campus  $3,600,000  

 
$3,600,000  

  
TBD  Building Envelope (Including Window Systems) Phase I $5,100,800   $5,100,800    

   
 

    
  FY2023 CAPITAL RENEWAL           

TBD  Building Envelope Phase II $2,010,000   $2,010,000    
   

 
    

  FY2019 / 2021 EMERGENCY CAPITAL: Projects Currently In Progress with CDB     
2021  Emergency Capital for Roof Replacement $3,244,940   $3,244,940    
2022  Emergency Capital for Deteriorating Piping $7,700,000   $7,700,000    

  
  

    
  SUPPLY CHAIN INNOVATION CENTER: Project Currently in Design with CDB     

2022  GSU SCICBI (Hantack House) Renovation $650,000   $400,000    
  

  
    

  GSU COP2018:  Projects Currently In Progress           

2020  HVAC Replacement & Upgrade $4,273,630     $4,273,630  
2022  Fire Suppression & Communication Replacement $2,275,000     $2,275,000  
2019  Roof Replacement  $125,000     $125,000  
2022  Parking & Roadway Repair $80,000     $80,000  

BFAC 287



Governors State University 
Board of Trustees  

Exhibit A to Resolution 23-XX 
October 21, 2022 

 

3 
 

Projected 
Fiscal Year  PROJECT NAME 

TOTAL 
Planning 
Amount  

State 
Appropriation  

 GSU Debt 
COP2018 

        
  GSU COP2018:  Projects Completed           

Complete  
Pathway Lighting (Vehicular/Pedestrian Circulation 
Renovation) $836,246  

   
$836,246  

Complete  Athletic Field Renovation/Reconstruction $256,724     $256,724  
Complete  Cafeteria - Equipment/Infrastructure Replacement $4,546,838   

 
 $4,546,838  

  
  

    
  CAPITAL RENEWAL:  Projects Proposed           

2023  Cafeteria - Access / Entrance (D Dock) $670,000      
2023  Social Justice Building $1,000,000      
2023  Athletic Soccer Field $2,000,000     $1,300,000  
2023  Biology Environmental Field Station $650,000      
2023  Central Receiving Drainage Improvements $200,000      
2023  Marketing Deferred Maintenance $150,000      
2023  Financial Services Deferred Maintenance $350,000      
2023  Library Services Deferred Maintenance $450,000      
2023  Outdoor Campus Beautification $90,000      
2023  Parking West Lot 2 $300,000      
2023  Main Road Lighting $150,000      

        
NOTE:  GSU DEFERRED MAINTENANCE BALANCE  $56,361,000          

  

BFAC 288



Governors State University 
Board of Trustees  

Exhibit A to Resolution 23-XX 
October 21, 2022 

 

4 
 

Projected 
Fiscal Year  PROJECT NAME 

TOTAL 
Planning 
Amount     

        
  TECHNOLOGY:  Projects Proposed           

2023  GSU WEB (External URL & Internal Portal) Rebuild TBD      
2023  WIFI Access (Latest Standards, Security & Speed) $665,000      

  
  

    
OTHER Funding Sources Summary           

 A Historical Operating Surplus $2,535,000      
 B Facility Fees $950,000      
 C Parking & Walkway Fees $540,000      
 D Farm Revenues $850,000      
 E External Fundraising $700,000      

 

BFAC 289



Governors State University 
Board of Trustees  

Exhibit A to Resolution 23-XX 
October 21, 2022 

 

5 
 

 

NEW CAPITAL INVESTMENT        

Center for Health Equity Building (Health Sciences Building)    $26,323,000 
 
The Center for Health Equity Building will support our capacity to conduct instructional, clinical, 
and collaborative activities central to addressing the physical, mental, and social health of 
communities in the Southland.  As a substantial contributor to the health and human services 
workforce in the region, we seek to provide state-of-the-art models of care and practice, and instill 
the values of equity and inclusivity.  This innovative interdisciplinary space will unite multiple 
disciplines under one roof, including: Occupational Therapy; Physical Therapy; Speech-Language 
Pathology; Social Work; Psychology and Counseling; Nursing; and Health Administration and 
Health Informatics. It will present new opportunities for teaching and practicing, and for engaging 
the community in health- and wellness-promoting activities.  We envision approximately 45,800 
square feet providing laboratories, meeting rooms, offices, and clinical spaces, which will allow our  

 

Building C Addition for Student Security & Safety   $2,850,000   

GSU’s safety and security needs have increased substantially since GSU became a 24/7 campus with 
student housing in FY15. Our Department of Public Safety is greatly in need of an area that would 
hold vehicles and allow for transfer of any persons subjected to personal assault or in custody 
without going through the public areas of the main building and HR waiting area.  Additionally, we 
currently utilize small internal spaces like utility and storage closets for holding areas, fingerprinting, 
and interviews.  This space would allow for the use of these internal spaces as their intended 
purpose. 

students and faculty to provide services and conduct research designed to enhance health equity in 
the region.   

  

BFAC 290



Governors State University 
Board of Trustees  

Exhibit A to Resolution 23-XX 
October 21, 2022 

 

6 
 

 

NEW CAPITAL INVESTMENT (continued)  

Library & Learning Commons      $38,755,000   

The Library & Learning Commons is a blend of a modern 21st century library and a vibrant 
academic support center. In this innovative academic hub, services would include the University 
Library, Academic Resource Center, Disability Services, Undergraduate Advising Center, TRiO 
Support Services, and the Writing Center. The current University Library at GSU is a 50,000 square 
foot portion of the second floor of the University's main building, which wraps around a main 
staircase and an elevator.  The library is open to a classroom complex on the third floor.  During the 
periods immediately before and after classes noise generated by students filters down to the Library, 
producing an environment not conducive to collaboration, study, or research. Interior renovations 
to the Library over the years have produced seminar rooms, classroom facilities, and a public bank 
of computer stations, as well as an enhanced entryway.   

Future renovations to the existing space, however, cannot increase the Library's capacity nor 
facilitate a universal design. GSU is in need of a new University facility, accessible to everyone, to 
provide adequate space for student support services including places for quiet studying and research 
and  rooms for small group interactions while also housing its collections.  

We envision a free-standing building of approximately 70,000 square feet located near the heart of 
campus. Our request for "Budget Year" funding is 10% of the total for planning and design costs. 
During the late summer and early fall of 2012, we engaged the architecture/design firm of STR 
Partners LLC to develop a vision statement for the proposed University Library.  Like the vision 
statement for the Center for Instruction & Innovation, that document provides general guidance for 
the project proposed here. It is on file with IBHE.     

  

BFAC 291



Governors State University 
Board of Trustees  

Exhibit A to Resolution 23-XX 
October 21, 2022 

 

7 
 

NEW CAPITAL INVESTMENT (continued)  

Center for Instruction & Innovation      $29,865,000 

We request capital investment for a new building on the GSU University Park campus to develop 
the Center for Instruction and Innovation through capital funds that have been lacking over the last 
decade. Our request for "Budget Year" funding is 10% of the total for planning and design costs. 
The Center for Instruction and Innovation will address the lack of classroom spaces that can hold 
more than 60 students and facilitate active learning environments, forum lectures, breakout spaces, 
and open collaboration areas. Currently, the lack of these spaces is limiting growth opportunities 
including potential enrollment and degree program growth. This center is planned to provide fully 
equipped, state-of-the-art instructional space including technology equipped multimedia classrooms 
preparing students for their future.  

Governors State University is the only Illinois public university without a Student Union. 
Accordingly, our current facilities must incorporate space for student-centered activities normally 
held in a student union. A new classroom building will free up more usable space in other buildings 
to support those activities. 

 

Student Success Center         $35,250,000 

Academic and Social Support Student Services and Life spaces at GSU are currently placed throughout 
the campus. After meeting with several Student Support Focus Groups, there is an overwhelming 
desire for a consolidated Student Success Center on campus offering a comprehensive one-stop-shop 
for instructional and academic support services on campus.  
 
• Create a new “front door” for the campus that is dynamic, welcoming, engaging, easily 

recognizable, and assists students to navigate the wide range of available academic resources and 
support services;  
 

• The Student Success Center will be designed as a high-impact, dynamic center that will aid 
students in fulfilling their academic potential by providing intentional and developmentally 
appropriate guidance and direction. 

 

  

BFAC 292



Governors State University 
Board of Trustees  

Exhibit A to Resolution 23-XX 
October 21, 2022 

 

8 
 

REBUILD ILLINOIS PROJECTS: Need Appropriated Funds Released   $32,990,000    

Public Act 101-0029 appropriates $32,725,000 in funding from the Capital Development Fund to CDB 
for GSU for the construction of an expansion of academic Building E, and other capital improvements.  
Additionally, $265,000 was re-appropriated from previous residual funds.  $4,264,000 has been released 
for the emergency project HVAC Replacement and Upgrade.  The balance of the funding needs to be 
released so the projects can be effectively coordinated to avoid additional costs / reconstruction.  It is 
critical that these funds be released as soon as possible in order to provide state of the art resources and 
learning environments and to contribute to student success inclusive of more student services as well as 
places for study, research and collaborative group interactions. Use of Rebuild Illinois funds will enable 
Governors State University to recruit and serve more first generation and Illinois students and grow 
enrollment according to university strategic planning. 

 

REBUILD ILLINOIS PROJECTS: New Capital (Need Appropriated Funds Released) 

Academic Building E Extension       $3,530,000 

FY2020 HB62 SFA 1 NEW CAPITAL MONEY:  CDB has allocated $3,530,000 for the renovation 
and extension of Building E. This project will incorporate and develop further the Spagnolo 
Enterprises, LTD Mechanical Systems Evaluation report for the Art Studio areas, the renovation of 
Sherman Hall, and additional space build out to accommodate new programs and teaching spaces. 

 

REBUILD ILLINOIS PROJECTS: Capital Renewal (In Progress) 

HVAC Replacement & Upgrade      $4,264,200 

Several university boilers, HVAC equipment, and RTU (Roof-top Units) have ongoing issues because 
of poor design, improper ductwork, air distribution, and the age of the equipment. Because most of 
GSU’s buildings are connected into one large facility, an urgent situation in one place affects many 
other areas. Replacements are necessary to bring our facility up to current code, as well as creating 
greater safety and efficiency.  

REBUILD ILLINOIS PROJECTS: Capital Renewal (Need Appropriated Funds Released) 

Building E (Sherman Hall & Art Studio Annex) Renovation  $2,245,000  

CBD has allocated $3,530,000 for the renovation and extension of Building E. this project will 
incorporate and develop further the Spagnolo Enterprises, LTD Mechanical Systems Evaluation report 
for the Art Studio areas, the renovation of Sherman Hall, and additional space build out to 
accommodate new programs and teaching spaces.   

BFAC 293



Governors State University 
Board of Trustees  

Exhibit A to Resolution 23-XX 
October 21, 2022 

 

9 
 

REBUILD ILLINOIS PROJECTS: Capital Renewal (continued) 

Renovation / Replacement Library:  Library Area                      $4,050,000  

The University Library area requires repairs of both a safety and space utilization concerns including 
reinforcement of public accessible counters, shelves, and media storage.  Additionally, to remain a 
Library of the future, with universal design and accessibility by everyone, innovative technologies need 
to be implemented. 

Renovation / Replacement Library:  Student Space          $4,800,000  

The Student Space within the University Library requires modifications to allow for the different new 
trends of student group study, research, and participation. Creating break out rooms and ability to use 
such spaces in a controlled environment when the Library is closed would allow students to have more 
flexibility to completing their work in a safe productive setting. For safety concerns, there is dire need in 
developing a connecting public corridor through the current library student space such that the entire 
second floor is connected. 

Vehicular/Pedestrian/Parking Lot Renovations:  North/West Campus       $5,400,000  

With (1) the addition of a 300-bed student residence facility in the fall of 2014, (2) the first fielding of 
intercollegiate athletic teams during 2014-15, and (3) the expansion of outreach activities at the Center 
for Performing Arts, the Nathan Manilow Sculpture Park and the GSU Visual Arts Gallery, GSU has 
added notably to the volume of pedestrian traffic on its campus and to the variety of the entries and 
exits that those pedestrians seek. The walkways which circulate through the campus and provide the 
primary means of access to the building for students, faculty and staff need significant repair; new 
walkways are needed to accommodate the circulation patterns of resident students and visitors between 
buildings; and the provision of lighting along these paths (both the renovated and the newly 
constructed) is a high-priority safety concern. The vehicular circulation for people with disabilities and 
K-12 school busses to the Center of Performing Arts creates difficulties that can be addressed by 
developing an alternate way to reduce vehicular/pedestrian conflicts.   

Vehicular/Pedestrian/Parking Lot Renovations:  South/East Campus  $3,600,000  

The Eastern Entrance Roadway was originally planned to circumvent the parking lots by going behind 
them, and only a small service road used by limited traffic would be between the parking lots and 
campus buildings. This was not completed; thus, a large volume of traffic uses this small service road, 
which has awkward turns and a high volume of pedestrian vehicle conflicts, which have caused 
numerous accidents.  The project requested here would help to resolve these issues and, in doing so, 
make the GSU campus more inviting and more easily navigated.  More importantly, it would 
substantially increase the safety of all those using it - pedestrians and drivers alike. 

 

BFAC 294



Governors State University 
Board of Trustees  

Exhibit A to Resolution 23-XX 
October 21, 2022 

 

10 
 

REBUILD ILLINOIS PROJECTS: Capital Renewal (continued) 

Building Envelope Phase I       $5,100,800 

The building envelope i.e., building enclosure is all the elements of the outer shell that maintain a dry, 
heated, or cooled indoor environment and facilitate climate control.  The University has many leaks 
(water and air) throughout its 50+ year old buildings.  Reparations are needed to the outer doors, 
windows where single pane glazing in steel frames have deteriorated beyond repair, building soffits 
where flashing heights are not aligned where wall systems meet roofs, masonry tuck pointing, and other 
areas of exposed concrete.   

FY2023 CAPITAL RENEWAL  

Building Envelope Phase II       $2,010,000 

The building envelope i.e., building enclosure is all the elements of the outer shell that maintain a dry, 
heated, or cooled indoor environment and facilitate climate control.  The University has many leaks 
(water and air) throughout its 50+ year old buildings.  Reparations are needed to the outer doors, 
windows where single pane glazing in steel frames have deteriorated beyond repair, building soffits 
where flashing heights are not aligned where wall systems meet roofs, masonry tuck pointing, and other 
areas of exposed concrete. 

 

FY2019 / 2021 EMERGENCY CAPITAL: Projects Currently in Progress with CDB 

Roof Replacement/Safety Upgrading     $4,950,000 

Roofs on wings A, B, C, E & the CPA are 95% complete. 

Deteriorating Piping         $7,700,000 

GSU and CDB are currently coordinating this project along with LCM Architects of Chicago, IL. The 
project is planned for a phased approach with $3.8M contracts currently awarded, estimated to take 
three years to complete. 

GSU SUPPLY CHAIN INNOVATION CENTER: Project Currently in Design with CDB 

GSU SCICBI (Hantack House) Renovation     $650,000 

$500M was appropriated from the Build Illinois Bond Fund to the CDB to fund the Illinois Innovation 
Network system and their initiatives.  Of that, $400,000 was designated to GSU for renovations needed 
for Hantack House, future home of SCICBI (Supply Chain Innovation Center and Business Incubator) 
including basement water treatment, HVAC replacement, air quality assessment, parking lot pavement, 
lighting, signage, security cameras, gutters, downspouts, etc.   

BFAC 295



Governors State University 
Board of Trustees  

Exhibit A to Resolution 23-XX 
October 21, 2022 

 

11 
 

GSU COP 2018  

As a result of the lack of State funding of a capital budget, the University’s deferred maintenance 
backlog has become critical.  GSU estimated $13.9 million was needed to address the most pressing 
of the deferred maintenance, and pursued borrowing through Certificates of Participation or 
Revenue Bonds. On August 15, 2018, Governor State University’s (GSU) Certificates of 
Participation Series 2018 (COP 2018) was priced at an all-in interest cost of 4.586% over 10 years to 
fund a list of improvements, prioritization from the list below is currently in progress.  Design, 
bidding and contract award phases will follow. 

In FY18, Facility Fee revenue of $2.6M was utilized for the payment of debt service COP 2008 and 
2009 in the amount of $1.7M with an additional $500,000 utilized to fund interim repairs and 
renewal until the deferred maintenance projects could be fully funded. A facility fee increase of $15 
per credit hour was implemented in FY19, resulting in revenues of $3.8M to fund the combined 
debt service with residual funds available for continued facility maintenance, repairs and renewal 
projects. 

COP PROJECTS IN PROGRESS: 

HVAC Replacement & Upgrade              $4,273,630  

HVAC problems frequently close numerous classrooms. And, it must be said, GSU has a scarcity of 
instructional spaces to begin with. In January 2018, HVAC problems closed the Family Development 
Center, forcing us to send babies, toddlers, and preschoolers home. Several university boilers, HVAC 
equipment, and RTU (Roof-top Units) have ongoing issues because of poor design, improper 
ductwork, air distribution, and the age of the equipment. These issues were compounded in the 1980’s, 
when Governors State transitioned from the initial open floor plan to more traditional classroom 
designs. Because most of GSU’s buildings are connected into one large facility, an urgent situation in 
one place affects many other areas. Renovations are necessary to bring our facility up to current code, as 
well as creating greater safety and efficiency. 

Fire Suppression & Communications Replacement                            $2,530,000  

GSU’s system has reached 50-year expiration.  Project to replace Main building wings A – F with the 
latest NFPA Requirements. Additionally, replace the fire communications system, currently operated 
with twisted copper wire, to that with fiber optic cable and configure a logical interconnect based on 
current safety protocols. 

Roof Replacement/Safety Upgrading                    $125,000 

Coordination with CDB:  roofs on wings A, B, C, E & the CPA are 95% complete. 

Parking & Roadway Repair                       $80,000 

BFAC 296



Governors State University 
Board of Trustees  

Exhibit A to Resolution 23-XX 
October 21, 2022 

 

12 
 

GSU COP 2018 (continued)  

GSU COP 2018 PROJECTS COMPLETED:   

Pathway Lighting (Vehicular/Pedestrian Circulation Renovations)  $836,246  

Athletic Field Renovation/Reconstruction       $256,724 

Cafeteria - Equipment/Infrastructure Replacement    $4,540,656  

 

CAPITAL RENEWAL PROPOSED 

 Cafeteria - Access / Entrance (D Dock)    $670,000  

 Social Justice Building      $1,000,000  

 Athletic Soccer Field       $2,000,000  

 Biology Environmental Field Station    $650,000  

 Central Receiving Drainage Improvements    $200,000  

 Marketing Deferred Maintenance     $150,000  

 Financial Services Deferred Maintenance    $350,000  

 Library Services Deferred Maintenance    $450,000  

 Outdoor Campus Beautification     $90,000  

 Parking West Lot 2       $300,000  

 Main Road Lighting       $150,000 

  

BFAC 297



Governors State University 
Board of Trustees  

Exhibit A to Resolution 23-XX 
October 21, 2022 

 

13 
 

 

GSU DEFERRED MAINTENANCE 

The University adopted a new Campus Facilities Master Plan approved by the GSU Board of 
Trustees August 2022. This critical strategic document is the culmination of input from students, 
faculty, and staff from all areas of the University and will be used to support the University Mission 
and supporting Strategic Plan by anticipating and preparing for the future, extending the useful life 
of the campus buildings, and minimizing disruption from unforeseen industry change.  The Facility 
Condition Assessment (FCA) provides detailed information associated with each building, including 
overall condition describing the current conditions and highlighting major deficiencies. 

Based on the FCA, the current Deferred Maintenance Balance is $56,361,000 with the highest 
proportion attributable to age and condition of our heating, ventilation, air conditioning (HVAC) 
systems. The four most critical deferred maintenance projects are in process.  

 

BFAC 298



TAB 11 

BFAC 299



 

Budget, Finance and Audit Committee 
October 7, 2022 

 
 
 
 

1 
 
 
 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

Resolution 23-XX 
Resolution for the Approval of Investment Policy 

 
I. ACTION ITEMS:  Proposed revisions to Board of Trustees of Governors State University 
Regulations Section V to: 

• incorporate a Governors State University Investment Policy (the “Investment Policy,” which 
is attached to the accompanying proposed Resolution as Exhibit A) as Regulations Section 
V.M; and 

• remove Regulations Section V.G.1 (Depositories), Section V.G.2 (Collateral), and Section 
V.G.3 (Investment of Funds) as duplicative because these items are included in the proposed 
Investment Policy. 

 
II. BACKGROUND AND ANALYSIS: As required by the Public Funds Investment Act (30 
ILCS 235) (the “Act”), investment of public funds by a public agency shall be governed by a written 
investment policy adopted by the governing body of the public agency. 

Governors State University (the “University”) has been operating its investments without a complete 
investment policy adopted by the University Board of Trustees (“Board”).  To comply with the Act, 
a complete written investment policy must be adopted by the Board. 
 
The University Investment Policy will provide the guiding principles for the University to effectively 
supervise, monitor, and evaluate the investment of its funds.  The University’s investment objectives 
are to manage its cash and investments in a manner that will preserve principal (safety), meet operating 
cash flow needs (liquidity), and produce a yield that would be described in the current marketplace as 
acceptable by conservative investment managers (return on investments).  In accordance with the 
investment policy requirements of the Act, the University Investment Policy also includes a listing of 
authorized investments, and addresses diversification and allocation, bank deposit collateralization, 
selection of investment managers, standards of care, and sustainable investing, among other 
requirements. 
 
On June 10, 2022, President Cheryl Green and Vice President for Administration and Finance Corey 
S. Bradford, Sr., recommended to the Board that the Board adopt a resolution approving to waive the 
first reading of, and direct the publication of, the proposed Regulation regarding a new Investment 
Policy. The Board accepted that recommendation as reflected in Resolution 22-42. 
 
In accordance with Resolution 22-42,  

• A true, accurate, and complete copy of the full text of the Investment Policy was posted for 
viewing by the University community on the University’s myGSU portal;  

BFAC 300



 

Budget, Finance and Audit Committee 
October 7, 2022 

 
 
 
 

2 
 
 
 

• An email was sent out notifying members of the University community where on the myGSU 
portal the Investment Policy could be found; 

• In that same email, and in a notice posted with the copy of the Investment Policy on the 
myGSU portal, the University community was informed that those members wishing to 
submit their views and comments on the Investment Policy should do so in writing by June 
28, 2022, either (1) through the comments feature on the myGSU portal page where the 
Investment Policy was posted, or (2) by submitting them to the Office of the General Counsel; 
and  

• A true, accurate, and complete copy of the full text of the Investment Policy was distributed 
to the presidents of the University Civil Service Senate, University Faculty Senate, and the 
University Student Senate for distribution to their respective members. 

 
No comments on the Investment Policy were received from the University community by June 28, 
2022 or since. Accordingly, President Green and Vice President Bradford recommend that the 
proposed revisions to Board of Trustees of Governors State University Regulations Section V to 
incorporate a Governors State University Investment Policy as Regulations Section V.M. be adopted 
without any change to the language thereof and that prior regulations regarding investments be deleted 
as duplicative.  
 
Resource/Contact:  Corey S. Bradford, Sr., Ph.D., Vice President for Administration and Finance; 
cbradford2@govst.edu; 708.235.7421, and Villalyn Baluga, Associate VP for Finance; 
vbaluga@govst.edu; 708.534.4039. 
 
 
 

Committee Approval 
 
 

CHAIR: ________________ DATE: _________ 
 
CONSIDERED VOTE: __________________________ 

 

BFAC 301

mailto:vbaluga@govst.edu


 
 

 

Board of Trustees  
October 7, 2022 

 

 
 

1 
 

 
 
 
 

Resolution No. 23-XX 

Approval of Investment Policy 

 

WHEREAS, The Board of Trustees of Governors State University (the “Board”) was 

created on January 1, 1996, by Public Act 89-4 to operate, manage, control, and maintain Governors 

State University in accordance with the rights, powers, and duties vested by law in the Board; and 

 

WHEREAS, The Board is comprised of eight members, seven of whom are appointed by 

the Governor of Illinois with the advice and consent of the Senate, and one whom is a Governors 

State University student selected by student peers; and 

 

WHEREAS, Article I(C)(1) of the Board’s Regulations provides that Board Regulations 

may be adopted, amended, or repealed at any regular meeting by a majority vote of the Board ; and 

WHEREAS, Article I(C)(2) of the Board’s Regulations provides that action on regulation 

shall not be taken earlier than the next regular meeting after which it is read and an opportunity for 

public comment has been given; and 

WHEREAS, The Public Funds Investment Act requires that public agencies, such as 

Governors State University, develop and adopt a written investment policy, 30 ILCS 235/2.5; and 

WHEREAS, Current Board regulations regarding investment of funds do not meet the 

statutory requirements for investment policies; and 

WHEREAS, On June 10, 2022, President Cheryl Green and Vice President for 

Administration and Finance Corey S. Bradford, Sr., recommended to the Board of Trustees that the 

Board adopt a resolution approving to waive the first reading of, and direct the publication of, the 

BFAC 302



 
 

 

Board of Trustees  
October 7, 2022 

 

 
 

2 
 

 
 
 
 

adoption of a new regulation regarding a new Investment Policy and the repeal of former Regulation 

Section V(G)(1)-(3), which the Board accepted as reflected in Resolution 22-42; and 

WHEREAS, the Investment Policy, in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A, was 

presented to the Budget, Finance and Audit Committee (the “Committee”) for consideration at a 

meeting held on October 7, 2022; and 

WHEREAS, the Committee voted to recommend adoption of the Investment Policy and 

repeal of prior related policies by the full Board; and 

WHEREAS, No public comments have been received; therefore 

Resolved, that the Board adopts the Committee’s recommendation for adoption of the 

Investment Policy in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A and the repeal of prior related policies as 

reflected in the redlined version of Article V attached hereto as Exhibit B. 

Resolved, that that Article V shall be amended to reflect all the foregoing changes as stated in 

the form attached hereto as Exhibit B. 

Resolved, that the Board directs the President to take all reasonable and necessary steps to 

effectuate this Resolution, including but not limited to timely publishing revised Article V. 

Approved October 21, 2022 
 
 
_________________________________  _________________________________ 
Angela Sebastian, Chair     James Kvedaras, Secretary 
Board of Trustees     Board of Trustees  

 

BFAC 303



Page 1 of 19 
 
 

 

 

GOVERNORS STATE UNIVERSITY 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

 
REGULATIONS 

 
Issued July 12, 1996 

With Amendments adopted by the Board on June 12, 1998; October 14, 2011; June 10, 
2022; and [DATE]. 
 

_________________________________________________________ 
 

SECTION V. FINANCIAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE AFFAIRS 
 

A. Budget and Appropriations Process 
 
1. Budget Requests 

 
The President shall establish guidelines and procedures for preparation of operating 
and capital budget requests for the University. The President shall review and make 
recommendations concerning the requests and submit them to the Board for approval. 
The President shall submit budget requests approved by the Board to the Board of 
Higher Education and shall take such actions on the Board’s behalf as are necessary 
and appropriate during the Board of Higher Education budget review process. 
 

2. Appropriations Requests 
 
The President shall prepare the University’s requests for operating and capital 
appropriations. The President shall introduce appropriations requests based upon 
budget requests approved by the Board in the appropriate house of the General 
Assembly and shall take such actions on the Board’s behalf as are necessary and 
appropriate during the appropriations process. 
 

3. Financial Plans and Reports 
 
a. The President, after consultation with the Committee on Finance and Budget, shall 

establish guidelines and procedures for the preparation of an annual financial plan 
for appropriated and non-appropriated funds which shall be submitted to the Board 
for review. 
 

BFAC 304



Page 2 of 19 
 
 

 

 

b. The President, after consultation with the Committee on Finance and Budget, shall 
establish guidelines and procedures for the preparation of financial reports for the 
Board. 

 
4. Line Item Transfers 

 
The President, subject to the provisions of State law, may approve appropriation line 
item transfer requests and shall present a report at each regular meeting of the Board 
on appropriation line item transfers approved since the preceding regular Board 
meeting. 

 
B. Purchases 

 
Purchases consist of contracts, purchase orders, or other agreements (collectively 
referred to in this Subsection B. as “contracts”) for the receipt of services or the acquisition 
of real or personal property which obligate financial resources of the Board. The financial 
resources of the Board include all funds received by or belonging to the Board and the 
University, including income received and retained in accordance with 30 ILCS 105/6a-
1e. All purchasing transactions shall be conducted in accordance with applicable State 
and Federal statutes and regulations and applicable regulations adopted by the Board. 
Procurement activity of the University is governed by many statutes, including, but not 
limited to the Illinois Procurement Code 30 ILCS 500/1-1 et seq. As stewards of public 
funds, it is essential that University employees receive and follow clear guidance on 
purchasing decisions. 

 
1. Approval 

 
Approval of purchases shall be obtained, prior to the obligation of financial resources 
of the Board, as follows: 
 
a. All transactions involving the acquisition of real property or purchases of $250,000 

or more (except as specified in Section V.B.1.d hereof) shall require approval by 
the Board. 
 

b. Authority for approval of purchases other than those referred to in Section V.B.1.a 
hereof is delegated to the President, who may delegate such authority to University 
administrators within his or her discretion. Such delegations of authority shall be in 
writing. 

 

BFAC 305



Page 3 of 19 
 
 

 

 

c. In the event of an emergency, the President may grant an exception to the 
requirement of Board approval of a contract if, in the opinion of the President: (i) 
immediate action is required; (ii) a reasonable effort has been made by the 
President to consult individually with members of the Board or of the Executive 
Committee; and (iii) there is insufficient time to obtain approval by the Board or the 
Executive Committee before action must be taken. The President shall present an 
informational report on exceptions granted under this provision at the next regular 
meeting of the Board. 

 
d. Approval by the Board under paragraph Section V.B.1.a hereof is not required for 

the following purchases: natural gas; utility services; fire protection; library books, 
electronic resources, and periodicals; textbooks; food products; entertainment 
services paid for with student fees and/or ticket sales receipts; resale items; postal 
charges; Procurement Code Exempt purchases and purchases made from 
vendors approved by the Illinois Public Higher Education Cooperative, State of 
Illinois Joint Contract awards, and other cooperatives where GSU is a member and 
a public solicitation is awarded for the product or service purchased. 

 
2. Reports 

 
At each regular meeting of the Board, the President shall present an informational 
report on purchases of at least $100,000 but less than $250,000 (other than purchases 
excepted under Section V.A.1.d hereof) made since the preceding regular Board 
meeting. 
 

3. Contract Preparation and Signature 
 
a. The Board of Trustees of Governors State University, constituted a body corporate 

and politic, is the contracting entity for all contracts involving the Board and the 
University. 
 

b. Except as otherwise provided herein, the President is authorized to sign all 
contracts for the University and may delegate such authority to University 
administrators within his or her discretion. Such delegations of authority shall be in 
writing. 
 

4. Letters of Intent 
 
A letter of intent (or similar document) may be signed by the President when in her or 
his judgment a letter of intent is necessary to ensure receipt of an advantageous price 

BFAC 306



Page 4 of 19 
 
 

 

 

or delivery date for goods or services and approval of the purchase by the Board as 
required by Section V.B.1 hereof cannot be timely obtained. Such letters of intent shall 
provide that the purchase may be terminated without any cost, liability, or obligation if 
approval of the Board as required by Section V.B.1 is not obtained by a specific date 
and shall contain such other conditions as may be considered appropriate by the 
person signing the letter of intent. 
 

5. Internal Management Guidelines 
 
The President shall establish and publish internal management guidelines (via policy, 
procedure, or otherwise) concerning purchases, which shall include the following 
provisions and such other provisions as are necessary and appropriate. Such 
guidelines shall take effect upon approval by the President. 
 
a. Provisions intended to ensure the fair and equitable treatment of all persons who 

provide goods or services to the Board. 
 

b. Provisions intended to foster competitive bidding and economical procurement to 
the greatest extent possible. 
 

c. Provisions intended to encourage the economical utilization and replacement of 
vehicles. 
 

d. Provisions to encourage the use of diverse suppliers, including but not limited to, 
small businesses and businesses owned by minorities, women, veterans, and 
persons with disabilities. Such provisions shall ensure compliance with applicable 
law. 

 
6. Change Orders 

 
a. The President (or the President’s delegee) is authorized to approve and sign 

change orders or amendments relating to contracts (collectively, “amendments”) 
on behalf of the University. 
 

b. A change order or series of change orders which authorizes or necessitates an 
increase or decrease in either the cost of a contract by a total of $10,000 or more 
or the time of completion by a total of 30 days or more shall not be approved unless 
it is first determined in writing by the President that the circumstances necessitating 
the change were not reasonably foreseeable at the time the contract was signed, 
the change is germane to the original contract as signed, or the change order or 

BFAC 307



Page 5 of 19 
 
 

 

 

series of change orders is in the best interest of the University and is authorized 
by law. Such written determination and the written change order resulting from that 
determination shall be preserved in the contract’s permanent file, which shall be 
open to the public for inspection consistent with applicable law governing public 
records.  
 

c. In accordance with Section I.E of these Regulations, the President shall further 
delegate the authority granted to her or him in the preceding paragraphs so that 
the same individual does not both approve a change order under Section V.B.6.a 
and make a determination in writing that the change order is justified under Section 
V.B.6.b. 

 
d. Except in emergency situations meeting the requirements of Section V.A.1.c 

hereof above and except as relating to those contracts described in Section 
V.B.1.d hereof, prior Board approval shall be required for any amendment that (i) 
increases a contract to $250,000 or more; (ii) exceeds a contingency previously 
approved by the Board; or (iii) increases a contract previously approved by the 
Board without a contingency. The President shall present a report on emergency 
exceptions granted under this provision at the next regular meeting of the Board. 

 
C. Income-Producing Contracts 

 
Income-producing contracts include, without limitation, grants or contracts with public or 
private agencies for instruction, research, or service, as well as concession contracts and 
contracts for the conveyance, lease, license, encumbrance, or other disposition of real or 
personal property of the Board. 

 
1. Approval 

 
a. Income-producing contracts shall require Board approval when the acceptance of 

any such contract results in changes to academic programs that would require 
subsequent approval by the Board of Higher Education. 
 

b. All contracts for the conveyance, lease, or encumbrance of real property shall 
require Board approval. For the avoidance of doubt, this provision shall not apply 
to the practice of temporary space use rental agreements or license agreements. 
 

c. Authority for approval of income-producing contracts, other than those requiring 
Board approval in accordance with Section V.C.1.a and b hereof, is delegated to 

BFAC 308



Page 6 of 19 
 
 

 

 

the President. Except as otherwise provided herein, the President may sign all 
such contracts upon approval. 

 
2. Reports 

 
A quarterly report to the Board shall be presented by the President on income-
producing contracts of $100,000 or more received by the University. 

 
D. Travel 

 
Travel regulations issued by the Illinois Higher Education Travel Control Board, as may 
be amended from time to time, shall govern the reimbursement of travel expenses incurred 
by employees and members of the Board from all fund sources, except appropriately 
restricted funds donated to University foundations. The President shall establish and 
publish a policy concerning the reimbursement of travel expenses not otherwise provided 
for herein, and such policy shall take effect when approved by the President. 

 
E. Business Expenses 

 
The President shall establish and publish a policy concerning the reimbursement from any 
University funds for any reason, including expenses incurred in connection with the 
conduct of official business for individuals, organizations, or situations not covered by 
regulations of the Higher Education Travel Control Board. The policy shall be consistent 
with regulations issued by the Higher Education Travel Control Board to the extent 
possible and shall take effect when approved by the President. The policy shall include 
the following provisions and such other provisions as are necessary and appropriate. 

 
1. Provisions concerning the reimbursement of expenses for transportation, meals, and 

living expenses. 
 

2. Provisions concerning the reimbursement of expenses for institutional advancement 
and development efforts. 
 

3. Provisions concerning the reimbursement of expenses for candidates for positions. 
 

4. Provisions concerning the source of funds for reimbursement of business expenses. 
 
 
 
 

BFAC 309



Page 7 of 19 
 
 

 

 

F. Moving and Relocation Expenses 
 

1. The term “employee,” as used herein, includes all full-time faculty and selected 
administrative and civil service employees hired from outside the commuting area of 
Governors State University. The President shall define the administrative and civil 
service positions in each university that are eligible for reimbursement for moving and 
relocation expenses. 

 
2. Moving or relocation expenses associated with the appointment of the President shall 

be limited to reasonable and actual expenses and shall be subject to approval by the 
Board. Moving or relocation expenses associated with the appointment of other 
employees shall be limited to reasonable and actual expenses and shall be limited to 
the maximum established by the President unless an exception thereto is granted by 
the President. The President shall inform the Board of the maximum reimbursement 
levels established by the President under these Regulations, and thereafter, of any 
change to such maxima. 

 
3. If two or more individuals occupying the same household who qualify for 

reimbursement for moving and relocation expenses are hired with commencement 
dates not more than 30 calendar days apart, they shall be eligible for a single 
reimbursement for that household to be divided equally between or among such 
individuals. 

 
G. Non-Appropriated Funds 

 
30 ILCS 105/6a-1e provides that certain non-appropriated funds may be retained by the 
University for use in the manner and for the purposes set forth therein. This regulation is 
issued to establish uniform procedures relating to the use and handling of such funds as 
receipts from revenue bond operations, auxiliary enterprise operations, and other self-
supporting activities; governmental and private gifts, grants, and contracts; a working cash 
fund; unrestricted institutional funds; tuition; student fees; and such other funds as may 
from time to time be approved by the Board. The University’s policy on the investment of 
non-appropriated funds is set forth in Section V(M) below. 

 
 

1. Reports 
 

The President shall submit an annual report to the Board on the deposit and 
investment of non-appropriated funds during the preceding year. 

 

BFAC 310



Page 8 of 19 
 
 

 

 

2. Records and Audits 
 

The University shall maintain detailed financial records of operations and prepare 
formal financial reports in accordance with generally accepted principles and 
standards of accounting as are necessary for sound financial management and 
adequate disclosure. Each year, the University shall provide a copy of its annual 
financial report and audit by the Auditor General to the Board. 

 
3. Bond Resolutions 

 
In the event of a conflict between the provisions of these Regulations and the 
requirements of specific bond resolutions adopted by the Board, the latter shall govern. 

 
4. Reserves 

 
Board approval shall be required to establish or change non-instructional facilities 
reserves or other reserves authorized by the University Guidelines 1982 issued by the 
Legislative Audit Commission. 

 
H. University-Related Organizations 

 
1. General 

 
University-related organizations include foundations, alumni associations, athletic 
associations, and other not-for-profit organizations established for the purpose of 
assisting the Board and the University in the accomplishment of their educational 
objectives. 

 
2. Audit Commission Guidelines 

 
The relationship between University-related organizations and the University shall be 
governed by the University Guidelines 1982 issued by the Legislative Audit 
Commission. The University shall develop a written contract describing this 
relationship with each of its University-related organizations. Each contract shall be 
subject to approval by the Board. 

 
3. Establishment of University-Related Organizations 

 
Proposals to create a new University-related organization shall be submitted by the 
President for review by the Board before the organization is established. 

BFAC 311



Page 9 of 19 
 
 

 

 

 
4. Contributions 

 
A proposal shall be submitted by the President describing any significant commitment 
of University resources to or for the benefit of, or contribution to or for the benefit of, 
any University-related organization. Approval of the Board shall be required before 
such a commitment is made. 

 
5. Reports 

 
a. A quarterly report to the Board shall be presented by the President on contributions 

to University-related organizations. 
 

b. The President shall submit copies of the annual audits of each University-related 
organization to the Board. 

 
I. Contributions 

 
1. General 

 
The Board is charged by statute to succeed to and administer all trusts, trust property, 
and gifts belonging or pertaining to the University. Contributions may be accepted on 
behalf of the Board by authorized University officials. 

 
2. Definition 

 
For the purpose of this Regulation, contributions are defined to include gifts, 
endowments, trusts, bequests, devises, and other donations made to the University. 

 
3. Authority to Accept 

 
The President is authorized to accept contributions to the University. Board approval 
shall be required prior to acceptance in the case of contributions that involve a 
significant commitment of resources for the operation, maintenance, or administration 
of the contribution. 

 
4. Reports 

 
A quarterly report to the Board shall be presented by the President on contributions to 
the University of $25,000 or more. 

BFAC 312



Page 10 of 19 
 
 

 

 

 
J. Mandatory Fees 

 
1. Definition 

 
Mandatory fees are defined as tuition and other fees established by the Board, which 
all students are assessed as a prerequisite for registration unless a waiver or other 
exemption has been authorized by the Board or by statute. 

 
2. Tuition 

 
The University shall develop a long-range plan for tuition as required by the Illinois 
Board of Higher Education. Board approval shall be required to change tuition rates. 

 
3. Other Mandatory Fees 

 
Any proposal to establish or change the amount of any other mandatory fee shall be 
subject to a student referendum. Board approval shall be required to establish or 
change the amount of any mandatory fee. In addition to tuition, mandatory fees that 
may be established at the University include, but are not limited to, the following: 
 
a. Activity fee 
b. Revenue Bond fee 
c. Health Care fee 
d. Insurance fee 
e. Athletic fee 
f. University Center fee 

 
4. Waivers 

 
The approval of the President is required to waive mandatory fees, except when a waiver is 
required by statute, authorized by Board regulation, or has been established as part of the 
University’s financial aid policy. 
 

5. Collections 
 
All registration fees must be collected prior to or during the academic term to which they apply. 
The University may offer a plan which would permit students to pay their tuition and fees in two 
or more installments during the academic term. A service charge may be added for students who 
elect to pay in more than one installment in accordance with the approved University plan. Unless 

BFAC 313



Page 11 of 19 
 
 

 

 

an exception is granted by the President by policy or on an ad hoc basis, all persons must meet 
all financial obligations to the University to maintain their status as enrolled students. 
 

6. Refunds 
 
The University shall develop policies that govern the refund of mandatory fees. These policies 
and any changes shall become effective when approved by the President. The term “refund” as 
used in this Regulation may mean the cancellation of an unpaid obligation as well as an actual 
refund of amounts previously paid. 
 
 
 
 

7. Activity Fee 
 

a. Student activity fees, upon collection by the University, become State funds and 
are subject to statutes, regulations, and University policies and procedures 
applicable to State funds generally. 
 

b. The University shall develop policies concerning the administration of student 
activity fees. The policies and any changes shall become effective when approved 
by the President. 

 
The policies shall contain the following provisions and such other provisions as are 
necessary and appropriate: 

 
i. Provisions for collection of all student activity fees at regular intervals. 

 
ii. Provisions for allocation by a body which includes representation of 

appropriate student organizations and of students generally. 
 

K. Special Fees and Charges 
 

1. Special Fees 
 

Special fees are defined as all fees other than mandatory fees and include, but are not 
limited to, the following: 

 
a. Room and Board fee 
b. Program Change fee 

BFAC 314



Page 12 of 19 
 
 

 

 

c. Graduation fee 
d. Late Registration and/or Late Payment fee 
e. Service fee for Installment Payments 
f. Transcript fee 

 
The President’s approval shall be required to establish or change the amount of any 
special fee. 
 

2. Charges 
 
Charges are defined as program- or activity-specific assessments, and may include 
but are not limited to, the following: 
 
a. Laboratory, Material, or Other Course-Related charge 
b. Locker and Towel charge 
c. Late Examination charge 
d. Duplicate Schedule charge 
e. Library Fine charge 
f. Lost Identification or Activity Card charge 
g. Test charge 
h. Parking charge 
 
Approval of the President is required to establish or change the amount of any charge. 

 
3. Waivers and Refunds 

 
Special fees and charges may be waived or refunded in accordance with University 
policy or by specific approval of the President. 

 
L. Internal Offset Procedures 

 
The University shall develop procedures whereby University initiated payments to its 
debtors may be offset in accordance with State law and the rules of the State Comptroller. 
The procedures and any changes shall become effective when approved by the President. 

 
M. Investment Policy 

 
1. Purpose 

 

BFAC 315



Page 13 of 19 
 
 

 

 

The Investment Policy provides the guiding principles for the University to effectively 
supervise, monitor, and evaluate the investment of its funds. 

 
2. Philosophy 

 
The University shall manage its cash and investments in a manner that will preserve 
principal, meet operating cash flow needs, and produce a yield which would be 
described in the current marketplace as acceptable by conservative investment 
managers. 
 
Investment strategies will evolve over time as market conditions, interest rates, and 
operational needs change. Such strategies must comply with applicable State and 
Federal laws and regulations, and bond/debt indentures. 

 
3. Responsibility and Authority 

 
a. University Board of Trustees 

 
• The Board has fiduciary responsibility for the University’s invested funds. 
• The Board fulfills its fiduciary responsibility for the management of all invested 

funds through the adoption of the University’s investment policy. 
• The Board may retain such professionals, including investment managers, 

consultants, fund custodians, and legal and accounting specialists as may be 
required to achieve the purposes of the investment policy. The Board reserves 
the right to terminate such professionals as a result of performance 
assessment in accordance with this investment policy. 

 
b. Budget and Finance Committee of the Board 

 
• Has oversight responsibilities over the University’s investment program. 
• Sets forth recommendations to the Board regarding investment policy. 
• Reviews the University’s investment policy on a periodic basis. 
• Reviews investment asset allocation, portfolio, and performance on a quarterly 

basis. 
• Reports investment activities and performance to the Board on an annual 

basis. 
• Approves the selection and assesses the performance of professionals, 

including consultants, investment managers, fund custodians, and legal and 

BFAC 316



Page 14 of 19 
 
 

 

 

accounting specialists as may be required to achieve the purposes of the 
investment policy. 

 
c. Vice President for Administration and Finance/Chief Financial Officer 

 
• Chief custodian of all funds held in the name of the University. 
• Execution of the investment policy, which includes the establishment of 

financial relationships, such as banking relationships, investment managers, 
consultants, custodians, and other vendors directly related to the provision of 
investment management services, for the holding or management of the 
University’s invested funds. 

• Recommends, as necessary, changes to investment allocation and investment 
policy. 

• Provides a quarterly report of investment activities and performance to the 
Budget and Finance Committee of the Board. 

 
d. Office of Financial Services and Comptroller 

 
• Manages the University invested funds consistent with the investment policy 

under the direction of the Vice President for Administration and Finance/Chief 
Financial Officer. 

• Directs and manages the day-to-day transactions with external investment 
managers. 

• Establishes internal controls and written operational procedures for the 
operation of the investment program. 

 
e. Investment Managers 

 
• Manage the University invested funds under their supervision in accordance 

with the University investment policy. 
• Exercise full investment discretion with regard to buying, managing, and selling 

assets held in the portfolios. 
• Accorded full discretion, within the limits set forth in this investment policy, to 

select individual securities, adjust the maturity mix, where applicable, and (3) 
diversify their portfolios so as to limit the impact of large losses in individual 
investments on the total portfolio. 

• Use the same care, skill, prudence, and due diligence under the circumstances 
then prevailing that experienced investment professionals acting in a like 
capacity would in the management of their own affairs, not in regard to 

BFAC 317



Page 15 of 19 
 
 

 

 

speculation, but in regard to the stewardship of their funds considering the 
probable income, risk, and preservation of capital. 

• Provide the University with monthly and quarterly reports of investment 
activities, fund holdings and performance. 

 
4. Policy 

 
a. University Funds Available for Investments 

 
• Operating Funds: Represents all funds available for current use in support of 

the University’s academic programs and support functions. These operating 
funds are pooled to provide the University continuity of mission, investment 
flexibility, and efficient administration. 
 

• Debt Funds: Proceeds from debt issuance, which can be temporarily invested 
pending expenditure for the related University’s projects. 

 
b. Investment Objectives 

 
University investments shall be managed with prudent judgment and care. The 
investment portfolio shall be managed with the intention of obtaining the highest 
possible net return, balancing reasonable growth and yield with acceptable risk. In 
addition, the portfolio shall exhibit diversity with respect to instrument type and 
duration. The achievement of these objectives shall be accomplished in the 
manner described below: 

 
• Safety: The safety of principal is the foremost objective of the investment 

program. The University funds shall be invested in a manner which seeks to 
ensure the preservation of capital. 

 
• Liquidity: The University’s investment portfolio will be structured in such a 

manner that securities mature at the same time as cash is needed to meet 
anticipated operational cash flow needs. Additionally, since all possible cash 
demands cannot be anticipated, the portfolio should consist largely of 
securities with active secondary or resale markets. 

 
• Return on Investments: Investment returns on the University’s investment 

portfolio is a priority after the safety and liquidity objectives described above. 
Investments are limited to relatively low risk securities in anticipation of earning 
a fair return relative to the risk being assumed. 

BFAC 318



Page 16 of 19 
 
 

 

 

 
c. Authorized Investments 

 
University funds should be invested in accordance with the State of Illinois Public 
Funds Investment Act (30 ILCS 235), which authorized the University to invest in 
the following: 

 
• Bonds, notes, certificates of indebtedness, treasury bills, or other securities 

guaranteed by full faith and credit of the United States of America as to 
principal and interest. 

 
• Bonds, notes, debentures, or other similar obligations of the United States of 

America, its agencies, and its instrumentalities. Agencies of the United States 
of America includes: 
o federal land banks, federal intermediate credit banks, banks for 

cooperative, federal farm credit banks, or any other entity authorized to 
issue debt obligations under the Farm Credit Act of 1971 (12 U.S.C. 2001 
et seq.) and Acts amendatory thereto; 

o federal home loan banks and federal home loan mortgage corporation; 
o any other agency created by Act of Congress. 

 
• Interest-bearing savings accounts, interest-bearing certificates of deposits, 

interest-bearing time deposits, or any other investment that constitutes direct 
obligations of any bank as defined by the Illinois Banking Act (205 ILCS 5). 

 
• Short-term obligations of corporations organized in the United States with 

assets exceeding $500M, if: 
o such obligations are rated at the time of purchase at 1 of the 3 highest 

classifications established by at least 2 standard rating services; 
o the maturity is not later than 270 days from the date of purchase, or the 

maturity is more than 270 days but less than 3 years from the date of 
purchase; 

o such purchases do not exceed 10% of the corporation’s outstanding 
obligations; 

o no more than one-third of the University’s funds may be invested in short-
term obligations of corporations. 

 
• Money market mutual funds registered under the Investment Company Act of 

1940. 
 

BFAC 319



Page 17 of 19 
 
 

 

 

• Short-term discount obligations of the Federal National Mortgage Association 
or in shares or other forms of securities legally issuable by savings and loan 
associations which are incorporated under the laws of Illinois or any other state 
or under the laws of the United States. 
o Investments may be made only in those savings and loan associations 

which are insured by the Federal Savings and Loan Insurance Corporation. 
o Securities may be purchased at the offering or market price at the time of 

purchase. 
o Securities shall mature or be redeemable on a date or dates prior to the 

time when invested funds will be required for expenditure by the University. 
 

• Dividend-bearing share accounts, share certificate accounts or class of share 
accounts of a credit union chartered under the laws of the State of Illinois or 
the laws of the United States, provided the principal office of the credit union 
must be located within the State of Illinois and the investments must be in 
accounts which are insured by applicable law. 

 
• The Illinois Funds Money Market Funds. 

 
• Repurchase agreements that meet certain instrument and transaction 

requirements. 
 

d. Diversification and Allocation 
 

The University will diversify its investments by security type, issue and maturity in 
order to reduce overall portfolio risks while striving to obtain the highest possible 
net return. The University’s investment portfolio will be structured to provide that 
sufficient funds from investments are available every month to meet the 
University’s anticipated cash needs. Subject to the safety objectives outlined 
above, the choice in investment instruments and maturities will be based upon an 
analysis of anticipated cash needs, existing and anticipated revenues, interest rate 
trends, and specific market opportunities. 

 
e. Bank Deposit Collateralization Requirements 

 
In accordance with the State Finance Act (30 ILCS 105/6a-1e), whenever funds 
retained by the University in its own treasury are deposited with a bank or savings 
and loan association and the amount of the deposit exceeds the amount of federal 
deposit insurance coverage, a bond or pledged securities shall be obtained. Only 
the types of securities which the State Treasurer may, in his discretion, accept for 

BFAC 320



Page 18 of 19 
 
 

 

 

amounts not insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation or the Federal 
Savings and Loan Insurance Corporation under Section 11 of the Deposit of State 
Moneys Act (15 ILCS 520/11) may be accepted as pledged securities. The market 
value of the bond or pledged securities shall at all times be equal to or greater than 
the uninsured portion of the deposit. 

 
f. Selection of Investment Managers 

 
Selection of investment managers will be based on prudent due diligence 
procedures as informed by the Illinois Procurement Code. Investment managers 
who manage University funds must be registered with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission, carry adequate levels of insurance, and have sufficient documented 
investment history and experience, personnel, organizational and fee structure, 
and client service capabilities to meet University needs. 

 
g. Standards of Care 

 
• Prudent Person Rule: The standard of prudence to be used by the officers, 

employees, and agents, including, but not limited to, investment managers, 
involved in the investment process shall be the “prudent person rule” and shall 
be applied in the context of managing an overall investment portfolio. 

 
• Ethics and Conflicts of Interest: Officers, employees, and agents, including, but 

not limited to, investment managers, involved in the investment process shall 
refrain from personal business activity that conflicts with the proper execution 
of the investment program, or impairs their ability to make impartial investment 
decisions. They shall comply with the Board policies and regulations, 
University policies and procedures, and all the applicable Federal and State 
laws and regulations governing ethics and conflicts of interest. This includes, 
but is not limited to, the Illinois Governmental Ethics Act (5 ILCS 420), and the 
State Officials and Employees Ethics Act (5 ILCS 430), which set forth 
guidelines for professional conduct by those acting on behalf of the University. 
Any material interest in financial institutions with which the University conducts 
business shall be reported to the University Ethics Officer. 

 
• Internal Controls: The University is responsible for establishing, maintaining, 

and evaluating internal control systems designed to ensure compliance with 
applicable laws and regulations; recording transactions properly; and 
protecting assets from loss that might arise from fraud, employee error, 
misrepresentation by third parties, or imprudent actions by employees. 

BFAC 321



Page 19 of 19 
 
 

 

 

 
h. Sustainable Investing 

 
In accordance with the Illinois Sustainable Investing Act (30 ILCS 238), officers, 
employees, and agents, including, but not limited to, investment managers, 
involved in the investment process will strive, within the bounds of financial and 
fiduciary prudence, to regularly consider material, relevant, and decision-useful 
sustainability factors in evaluating investment decisions. Factors to be considered 
may include, but are not limited to: (i) corporate governance and leadership factors, 
(ii) environmental factors, (iii) social capital factors, (iv) human capital factors, and 
(v) business model and innovation factors. 

BFAC 322



Page 1 of 20 
 
 

 

 

 

Formatted: Font: Arial

Formatted: Footer

GOVERNORS STATE UNIVERSITY 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

 
REGULATIONS 

 
Issued July 12, 1996 

With Amendments adopted by the Board on June 12, 1998; October 14, 2011; and June 10, 
2022.; and [DATE]. 
 

_________________________________________________________ 
 

SECTION V.  FINANCIAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE AFFAIRS 
 

A. Budget and Appropriations Process 
 
1. Budget Requests 

 
The President shall establish guidelines and procedures for preparation of operating 
and capital budget requests for the University. The President shall review and make 
recommendations concerning the requests and submit them to the Board for approval. 
The President shall submit budget requests approved by the Board to the Board of 
Higher Education and shall take such actions on the Board’s behalf as are necessary 
and appropriate during the Board of Higher Education budget review process. 
 

2. Appropriations Requests 
 
The President shall prepare the University’s requests for operating and capital 
appropriations. The President shall introduce appropriations requests based upon 
budget requests approved by the Board in the appropriate house of the General 
Assembly and shall take such actions on the Board’s behalf as are necessary and 
appropriate during the appropriations process. 
 

3. Financial Plans and Reports 
 
a. The President, after consultation with the Committee on Budget, Finance, and 

BudgetAudit, shall establish guidelines and procedures for the preparation of an 
annual financial plan for appropriated and non-appropriated funds which shall be 
submitted to the Board for review. 
 

Style Definition: No Spacing,Double Spacing: Line spacing: 
single

Style Definition: Normal

Formatted: Tab stops: Not at  2.44"

Formatted: Font: Bold, Underline

Formatted: Left, Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style:
A, B, C, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.25"
+ Indent at:  0.5"

Formatted: Left

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2,
3, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.5" +
Indent at:  0.75"

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2,
3, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.5" +
Indent at:  0.75"

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2,
3, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.5" +
Indent at:  0.75"

Formatted: Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: a, b,
c, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.75" +
Indent at:  1"

Formatted: Font: Bold

BFAC 323



Page 2 of 20 
 
 

 

 

 

Formatted: Font: Arial

Formatted: Footer

b. The President, after consultation with the Committee on Budget, Finance, and 
BudgetAudit, shall establish guidelines and procedures for the preparation of 
financial reports for the Board. 

 
4. Line Item Transfers 

 
The President, subject to the provisions of State law, may approve appropriation line 
item transfer requests and shall present a report at each regular meeting of the Board 
on appropriation line item transfers approved since the preceding regular Board 
meeting. 

 
B. Purchases 

 
Purchases consist of contracts, purchase orders, or other agreements (collectively 
referred to in this Subsection B. as “contracts”) for the receipt of services or the acquisition 
of real or personal property which obligate financial resources of the Board. The financial 
resources of the Board include all funds received by or belonging to the Board and the 
University, including income received and retained in accordance with 30 ILCS 105/6a-
1e. All purchasing transactions shall be conducted in accordance with applicable State 
and Federal statutes and regulations and applicable regulations adopted by the Board. 
Procurement activity of the University is governed by many statutes, including, but not 
limited to the Illinois Procurement Code, 30 ILCS 500/1-1 et seq. As stewards of public 
funds, it is essential that University employees receive and follow clear guidance on 
purchasing decisions. 

 
1. Approval 

 
Approval of purchases shall be obtained, prior to the obligation of financial resources 
of the Board, as follows: 
 
a. All transactions involving the acquisition of real property or purchases of $250,000 

or more (except as specified in paragraph Section V.B.1.d hereof) shall require 
approval by the Board. 
 

b. Authority for approval of purchases other than those referred to in Section V.B.1.a 
hereof is delegated to the President, who may delegate such authority to University 
administrators within his or her discretion. Such delegations of authority shall be in 
writing. 

 

Formatted: Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: a, b,
c, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.75" +
Indent at:  1"

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Normal, Indent: Left:  0"

Formatted: Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2,
3, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.5" +
Indent at:  0.75"

Formatted: Normal, Indent: Left:  0"

Formatted: Left, Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style:
A, B, C, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.25"
+ Indent at:  0.5"

Formatted: Normal

Formatted: Normal, Indent: Left:  0.5"

Formatted: Normal

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2,
3, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.5" +
Indent at:  0.75"

Formatted: Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: a, b,
c, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.75" +
Indent at:  1"

Formatted: Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: a, b,
c, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.75" +
Indent at:  1"

Formatted: Left, Indent: Left:  0.5", Space After:  10 pt

BFAC 324



Page 3 of 20 
 
 

 

 

 

Formatted: Font: Arial

Formatted: Footer

c. In the event of an emergency, the President may grant an exception to the 
requirement of Board approval of a contract if, in the opinion of the President: (i.)) 
immediate action is required; (ii.)) a reasonable effort has been made by the 
President to consult individually with members of the Board or of the Executive 
Committee; and (iii.)) there is insufficient time to obtain approval by the Board or 
the Executive Committee before action must be taken. The President shall present 
an informational report on exceptions granted under this provision at the next 
regular meeting of the Board. 

 
d. Approval by the Board under paragraph Section V.B.1.a hereof is not required for 

the following purchases: natural gas; utility services; fire protection; library books, 
electronic resources, and periodicals; textbooks; food products; entertainment 
services paid for with student fees and/or ticket sales receipts; resale items; postal 
charges; Procurement Code Exempt purchases; and purchases made from 
vendors approved by the Illinois Public Higher Education Cooperative, State of 
Illinois Joint Contract awards, and other cooperatives where the UniversityGSU is 
a member and a public solicitation is awarded for the product or service purchased. 

 
2. Reports 

 
At each regular meeting of the Board, the President shall present an informational 
report on purchases of at least $100,000 but less than $250,000 (other than purchases 
excepted under Section V.A.1.d. hereof) made since the preceding regular Board 
meeting. 
 

3. Contract Preparation and Signature 
 
a. The Board of Trustees of Governors State University, constituted a body corporate 

and politic, is the contracting entity for all contracts involving the Board and the 
University.  
 

b. Except as otherwise provided herein, the President is authorized to sign all 
contracts for the University and may delegate such authority to University 
administrators within his or her discretion. Such delegations of authority shall be in 
writing. 
 

4. Letters of Intent 
 
A letter of intent (or similar document) may be signed by the President when in her or 
his judgment a letter of intent is necessary to ensure receipt of an advantageous price 

Formatted: Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: a, b,
c, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.75" +
Indent at:  1"

Formatted: Left, Indent: Left:  0.5", Space After:  10 pt

Formatted: Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: a, b,
c, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.75" +
Indent at:  1"

Formatted: Normal, Indent: Left:  0.75"

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2,
3, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.5" +
Indent at:  0.75"

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2,
3, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.5" +
Indent at:  0.75"

Formatted: Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: a, b,
c, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.75" +
Indent at:  1"

Formatted: Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: a, b,
c, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.75" +
Indent at:  1"

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2,
3, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.5" +
Indent at:  0.75"

BFAC 325



Page 4 of 20 
 
 

 

 

 

Formatted: Font: Arial

Formatted: Footer

or delivery date for goods or services and approval of the purchase by the Board as 
required by Section V.B.1 hereof cannot be timely obtained. Such letters of intent shall 
provide that the purchase may be terminated without any cost, liability, or obligation if 
approval of the Board as required by Section V.B.1 is not obtained by a specific date 
and shall contain such other conditions as may be considered appropriate by the 
person signing the letter of intent. 
 

5. Internal Management Guidelines 
 
The President shall establish and publish internal management guidelines (via policy, 
procedure, or otherwise) concerning purchases, which shall include the following 
provisions and such other provisions as are necessary and appropriate. Such 
guidelines shall take effect upon approval by the President. 
 
a. Provisions intended to ensure the fair and equitable treatment of all persons who 

provide goods or services to the Board. 
 

b. Provisions intended to foster competitive bidding and economical procurement to 
the greatest extent possible. 
 

c. Provisions intended to encourage the economical utilization and replacement of 
vehicles. 
 

d. Provisions to encourage the use of diverse suppliers, including but not limited to, 
small businesses and businesses owned by minorities, women, veterans, and 
persons with disabilities. Such provisions shall ensure compliance with applicable 
law. 

 
6. Change Orders 

 
a. The President (or the President’s designeedelegee) is authorized to approve and 

sign change orders or amendments relating to contracts (collectively, 
“amendments”) on behalf of the University. 
 

b. A change order or series of change orders which authorizes or necessitates an 
increase or decrease in either the cost of a contract by a total of $10,000 or more 
or the time of completion by a total of 30 days or more shall not be approved unless 
it is first determined in writing by the President that the circumstances necessitating 
the change were not reasonably foreseeable at the time the contract was signed, 
the change is germane to the original contract as signed, or the change order or 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2,
3, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.5" +
Indent at:  0.75"

Formatted: Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: a, b,
c, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.75" +
Indent at:  1"

Formatted: Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: a, b,
c, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.75" +
Indent at:  1"

Formatted: Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: a, b,
c, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.75" +
Indent at:  1"

Formatted: Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: a, b,
c, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.75" +
Indent at:  1"

Formatted: Normal, Indent: Left:  0"

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2,
3, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.5" +
Indent at:  0.75"

Formatted: Normal, Indent: Left:  0"

Formatted: Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: a, b,
c, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.75" +
Indent at:  1"

Formatted: Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: a, b,
c, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.75" +
Indent at:  1"

BFAC 326



Page 5 of 20 
 
 

 

 

 

Formatted: Font: Arial

Formatted: Footer

series of change orders is in the best interest of the University and is authorized 
by law. Such written determination and the written change order resulting from that 
determination shall be preserved in the contract’s permanent file, which shall be 
open to the public for inspection consistent with applicable law governing public 
records.  
 

c. In accordance with Section I.E. of these Regulations, the President shall further 
delegate the authority granted to her or him in the preceding paragraphs so that 
the same individual does not both approve a change order under Section V.B.6.a 
and make a determination in writing that the change order is justified under Section 
V.B.6.b. 

 
d. d. Except in emergency situations meeting the requirements of Section V.A.1.c 

hereof above and except as relating to those contracts described in Section 
V.B.1.d hereof, prior Board approval shall be required for any amendment that (i.)) 
increases a contract to $250,000 or more,; (ii.)) exceeds a contingency previously 
approved by the Board,; or (iii.)) increases a contract previously approved by the 
Board without a contingency. The President shall present a report on emergency 
exceptions granted under this provision at the next regular meeting of the Board. 

 
C. Income-Producing Contracts 

 
Income-producing contracts include, without limitation, grants or contracts with public or 
private agencies for instruction, research, or service, as well as concession contracts and 
contracts for the conveyance, lease, license, encumbrance, or other disposition of real or 
personal property of the Board. 

 
1. 1. Approval 

 
a. Income-producing contracts shall require Board approval when the acceptance of 

any such contract results in changes to academic programs that would require 
subsequent approval by the Board of Higher Education. 
 

b. All contracts for the conveyance, lease, or encumbrance of real property shall 
require Board approval. For the avoidance of doubt, this provision shall not apply 
to the practice of temporary space use rental agreements or license agreements. 
 

c. Authority for approval of income-producing contracts, other than those requiring 
Board approval in accordance with SectionsSection V.C.1.a and V.C.1.b hereof, is 

Formatted: Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: a, b,
c, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.75" +
Indent at:  1"

Formatted: Normal, Indent: Left:  0"

Formatted: Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: a, b,
c, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.75" +
Indent at:  1"

Formatted: Normal, Indent: Left:  0"

Formatted: Left, Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style:
A, B, C, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.25"
+ Indent at:  0.5"

Formatted: Normal

Formatted: Normal, Indent: Left:  0.5"

Formatted: Normal

Formatted: Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2,
3, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.5" +
Indent at:  0.75"

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Normal, Indent: Left:  0"

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.75", Numbered + Level: 2 +
Numbering Style: a, b, c, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left +
Aligned at:  1" + Indent at:  1.25"

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.75", Numbered + Level: 2 +
Numbering Style: a, b, c, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left +
Aligned at:  1" + Indent at:  1.25"

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.75", Numbered + Level: 2 +
Numbering Style: a, b, c, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left +
Aligned at:  1" + Indent at:  1.25"

BFAC 327



Page 6 of 20 
 
 

 

 

 

Formatted: Font: Arial

Formatted: Footer

delegated to the President. Except as otherwise provided herein, the President 
may sign all such contracts upon approval. 

 
2. Reports 

 
A quarterly report to the Board shall be presented by the President on income-
producing contracts of $100,000 or more received by the University. 

 
D. Travel 

 
Travel regulations issued by the Illinois Higher Education Travel Control Board, as may 
be amended from time to time, shall govern the reimbursement of travel expenses incurred 
by employees and members of the Board from all fund sources, except appropriately 
restricted funds donated to University foundations. The President shall establish and 
publish a policy concerning the reimbursement of travel expenses not otherwise provided 
for herein, and such policy shall take effect when approved by the President. 

 
E. Business Expenses 

 
The President shall establish and publish a policy concerning the reimbursement from any 
University funds for any reason, including expenses incurred in connection with the 
conduct of official business for individuals, organizations, or situations not covered by 
regulations of the Higher Education Travel Control Board. The policy shall be consistent 
with regulations issued by the Higher Education Travel Control Board to the extent 
possible and shall take effect when approved by the President. The policy shall include 
the following provisions and such other provisions as are necessary and appropriate. 

 
1. Provisions concerning the reimbursement of expenses for transportation, meals, and 

living expenses. 
 

2. Provisions concerning the reimbursement of expenses for institutional advancement 
and development efforts. 
 

3. Provisions concerning the reimbursement of expenses for candidates for positions. 
 

4. Provisions concerning the source of funds for reimbursement of business expenses. 
 
 
 
 

Formatted: Normal, Indent: Left:  0"

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2,
3, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.5" +
Indent at:  0.75"

Formatted: Normal, Indent: Left:  0"

Formatted: Normal

Formatted: Normal, Indent: Left:  0"

Formatted: Left, Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style:
A, B, C, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.25"
+ Indent at:  0.5"

Formatted: Normal

Formatted: Normal, Indent: Left:  0.5"

Formatted: Normal

Formatted: Left, Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style:
A, B, C, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.25"
+ Indent at:  0.5"

Formatted: Normal

Formatted: Normal, Indent: Left:  0.5"

Formatted: Normal

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5", Numbered + Level: 1 +
Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left +
Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"

Formatted: Normal, Indent: Left:  0"

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5", Numbered + Level: 1 +
Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left +
Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5", Numbered + Level: 1 +
Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left +
Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"

Formatted: List Paragraph, Indent: Left:  0.75"

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5", Numbered + Level: 1 +
Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left +
Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"

Formatted: Normal, Indent: Left:  0"

BFAC 328



Page 7 of 20 
 
 

 

 

 

Formatted: Font: Arial

Formatted: Footer

F. Moving and Relocation Expenses 
 

1. The term “employee,” as used herein, includes all full-time faculty and selected 
administrative and civil service employees hired from outside the commuting area of 
Governors State University. The President shall define the administrative and civil 
service positions in each university that are eligible for reimbursement for moving and 
relocation expenses. 

 
2. Moving or relocation expenses associated with the appointment of the President shall 

be limited to reasonable and actual expenses and shall be subject to approval by the 
Board. Moving or relocation expenses associated with the appointment of other 
employees shall be limited to reasonable and actual expenses and shall be limited to 
the maximum established by the President unless an exception thereto is granted by 
the President. The President shall inform the Board of the maximum reimbursement 
levels established by the President under these Regulations, and thereafter, of any 
change to such maxima. 

 
3. If two or more individuals occupying the same household who qualify for 

reimbursement for moving and relocation expenses are hired with commencement 
dates not more than 30 calendar days apart, they shall be eligible for a single 
reimbursement for that household to be divided equally between or among such 
individuals. 

 
G. Non-Appropriated Funds 

 
30 ILCS 105/6a-1e provides that certain non-appropriated funds may be retained by the 
University for use in the manner and for the purposes set forth therein. This regulation is 
issued to establish uniform procedures relating to the use and handling of such funds as 
receipts from revenue bond operations, auxiliary enterprise operations, and other self-
supporting activities; governmental and private gifts, grants, and contracts; a working cash 
fund; unrestricted institutional funds; tuition; student fees; and such other funds as may 
from time to time be approved by the Board. The University’s policy on the investment of 
non-appropriated funds is set forth in Section V(M) below. 
 
1. Depositories 

 
Non-appropriated funds may only be deposited in depositories approved by the Board. 
The only financial institutions eligible for consideration as depositories are (a.) banks 
located in Illinois and insured by FDIC, or (b.) savings and loan associations located 
in Illinois and insured by FSLIC. 

Formatted: Left, Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style:
A, B, C, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.25"
+ Indent at:  0.5"

Formatted: Normal

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5", Numbered + Level: 1 +
Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left +
Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5"

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5", Numbered + Level: 1 +
Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left +
Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"

Formatted: Left, Indent: Left:  0.5", Space After:  10 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5", Numbered + Level: 1 +
Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left +
Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"

Formatted: Normal, Indent: Left:  0"

Formatted: Left, Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style:
A, B, C, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.25"
+ Indent at:  0.5"

Formatted: Normal

Formatted: Normal, Indent: Left:  0.5"

BFAC 329



Page 8 of 20 
 
 

 

 

 

Formatted: Font: Arial

Formatted: Footer

 
2. Collateral 

 
As a general rule, all deposits at a depository in excess of the amount insured by FDIC 
or FSLIC shall be secured by the pledge of (a.) United States government securities, 
(b.) securities guaranteed by the full faith and credit of the United States government, 
or (c.) any other security permitted by law and approved by the Board. The requirement 
for securing uninsured deposits may be wholly or partially waived by the Board if an 
economic advantage may be gained thereby or conditions otherwise warrant such 
waiver. 
 

3. Investment of Funds 
 

Non-appropriated funds that are not secured in accordance with Section V.G.2 hereof shall, 
unless otherwise provided by terms of a bond resolution or unless needed for operational 
expenses, be invested through approved depositories or through other means authorized by the 
Board in (a.) United States government securities, (b.) securities guaranteed by the full faith and 
credit of the United States government, or (d.) any other investment permitted by law and 
approved by the Board. Several funds of the same general category or classification may be 
combined in a single account; however, the books and records of the University shall reflect the 
amount in each fund and the charges against each fund. 
 

4.1. Reports 
 

The President shall submit an annual report to the Board on the deposit and 
investment of non-appropriated funds during the preceding year. 

 
5.2. Records and Audits 

 
The University shall maintain detailed financial records of operations and prepare 
formal financial reports in accordance with generally accepted principles and 
standards of accounting as are necessary for sound financial management and 
adequate disclosure. Each year, the University shall provide a copy of its annual 
financial report and audit by the Auditor General to the Board. 

 
6.3. Bond Resolutions 

 
In the event of a conflict between the provisions of these Regulations and the 
requirements of specific bond resolutions adopted by the Board, the latter shall govern. 

 

Formatted: Normal, Indent: Left:  0"

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2,
3, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.5" +
Indent at:  0.75"

Formatted: Normal, Indent: Left:  0"

Formatted: Normal

Formatted: Normal, Indent: Left:  0"

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2,
3, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.5" +
Indent at:  0.75"

Formatted: Normal, Indent: Left:  0"

Formatted: Normal

Formatted: Normal, Indent: Left:  0"

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2,
3, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.5" +
Indent at:  0.75"

Formatted: Normal

Formatted: Normal, Indent: Left:  0"

BFAC 330



Page 9 of 20 
 
 

 

 

 

Formatted: Font: Arial

Formatted: Footer

7.4. Reserves 
 

Board approval shall be required to establish or change non-instructional facilities 
reserves or other reserves authorized by the University Guidelines 1982 issued by the 
Legislative Audit Commission. 

 
H. University-Related Organizations 

 
1. General 

 
University-related organizations include foundations, alumni associations, athletic 
associations, and other not-for-profit organizations established for the purpose of 
assisting the Board and the University in the accomplishment of their educational 
objectives. 

 
2. Audit Commission Guidelines 

 
The relationship between University-related organizations and the University shall be 
governed by the University Guidelines 1982 issued by the Legislative Audit 
Commission. The University shall develop a written contract describing this 
relationship with each of its University-related organizations. Each contract shall be 
subject to approval by the Board. 

 
3. Establishment of University-Related Organizations 

 
Proposals to create a new University-related organization shall be submitted by the 
President for review by the Board before the organization is established. 

 
4. Contributions 

 
A proposal shall be submitted by the President describing any significant commitment 
of University resources to or for the benefit of, or contribution to or for the benefit of, 
any University-related organization. Approval of the Board shall be required before 
such a commitment is made. 

 
5. Reports 

 
a. A quarterly report to the Board shall be presented by the President on contributions 

to University-related organizations. 
 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2,
3, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.5" +
Indent at:  0.75"

Formatted: Normal

Formatted: Normal, Indent: Left:  0"

Formatted: Left, Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style:
A, B, C, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.25"
+ Indent at:  0.5"

Formatted: Normal

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2,
3, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.5" +
Indent at:  0.75"

Formatted: Normal, Indent: Left:  0"

Formatted: Normal

Formatted: Normal, Indent: Left:  0"

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2,
3, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.5" +
Indent at:  0.75"

Formatted: Normal, Indent: Left:  0"

Formatted: Normal

Formatted: Normal, Indent: Left:  0"

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2,
3, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.5" +
Indent at:  0.75"

Formatted: Normal, Indent: Left:  0"

Formatted: Normal

Formatted: Normal, Indent: Left:  0"

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted ... [1]
Formatted: Normal, Indent: Left:  0"

Formatted: Normal

Formatted: Normal, Indent: Left:  0"

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted ... [2]
Formatted: Normal, Indent: Left:  0"

Formatted ... [3]

BFAC 331



Page 10 of 20 
 
 

 

 

 

Formatted: Font: Arial

Formatted: Footer

b. The President shall submit copies of the annual audits of each University-related 
organization to the Board. 

 
I. Contributions 

 
1. General 

 
The Board is charged by statute to succeed to and administer all trusts, trust property, 
and gifts belonging or pertaining to the University. Contributions may be accepted on 
behalf of the Board by authorized University officials. 

 
2. Definition 

 
For the purpose of this Regulation, contributions are defined to include gifts, 
endowments, trusts, bequests, devises, and other donations made to the University. 

 
3. Authority to Accept 

 
The President is authorized to accept contributions to the University. Board approval 
shall be required prior to acceptance in the case of contributions that involve a 
significant commitment of resources for the operation, maintenance, or administration 
of the contribution. 

 
4. Reports 

 
A quarterly report to the Board shall be presented by the President on contributions to 
the University of $25,000 or more. 

 
J. Mandatory Fees 

 
1. Definition 

 
Mandatory fees are defined as tuition and other fees established by the Board, which 
all students are assessed as a prerequisite for registration unless a waiver or other 
exemption has been authorized by the Board or by statute. 

 
2. Tuition 

 
The University shall develop a long-range plan for tuition as required by the Illinois 
Board of Higher Education. Board approval shall be required to change tuition rates. 

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.75", Numbered + Level: 2 +
Numbering Style: a, b, c, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left +
Aligned at:  1" + Indent at:  1.25"

Formatted: Normal, Indent: Left:  0"

Formatted ... [4]
Formatted: Normal

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted ... [5]
Formatted: Normal, Indent: Left:  0"

Formatted: Normal

Formatted: Normal, Indent: Left:  0"

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted ... [6]
Formatted: Normal, Indent: Left:  0"

Formatted: Normal

Formatted: Normal, Indent: Left:  0"

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted ... [7]
Formatted: Normal, Indent: Left:  0"

Formatted: Normal

Formatted: Normal, Indent: Left:  0"

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted ... [8]
Formatted: Normal, Indent: Left:  0"

Formatted: Normal

Formatted: Normal, Indent: Left:  0"

Formatted ... [9]
Formatted: Normal

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted ... [10]
Formatted: Normal, Indent: Left:  0"

Formatted: Normal

Formatted: Normal, Indent: Left:  0"

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted ... [11]
Formatted: Normal, Indent: Left:  0"

Formatted: Normal

BFAC 332



Page 11 of 20 
 
 

 

 

 

Formatted: Font: Arial

Formatted: Footer

 
3. Other Mandatory Fees 

 
Any proposal to establish or change the amount of any other mandatory fee shall be 
subject to a student referendum. Board approval shall be required to establish or 
change the amount of any mandatory fee. In addition to tuition, mandatory fees that 
may be established at the University include, but are not limited to, the following: 
 
a. Activity fee 
b. Revenue Bond fee 
c. Health Care fee 
d. Insurance fee 
e. Athletic fee 
f. University Center fee 

 
4. Waivers 

 
The approval of the President is required to waive mandatory fees, except when a waiver is 
required by statute, authorized by Board regulation, or has been established as part of the 
University’s financial aid policy. 
 

5. Collections 
 
All registration fees must be collected prior to or during the academic term to which they apply. 
The University may offer a plan which would permit students to pay their tuition and fees in two 
or more installments during the academic term. A service charge may be added for students who 
elect to pay in more than one installment in accordance with the approved University plan. Unless 
an exception is granted by the President by policy or on an ad hoc basis, all persons must meet 
all financial obligations to the University to maintain their status as enrolled students. 
 

6. Refunds 
 
The University shall develop policies that govern the refund of mandatory fees. These policies 
and any changes shall become effective when approved by the President. The term “refund” as 
used in this Regulation may mean the cancellation of an unpaid obligation as well as an actual 
refund of amounts previously paid. 
 
 
 
 

Formatted: Normal, Indent: Left:  0"

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2,
3, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.5" +
Indent at:  0.75"

Formatted: Normal, Indent: Left:  0"

Formatted: Normal

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.75", Numbered + Level: 2 +
Numbering Style: a, b, c, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left +
Aligned at:  1" + Indent at:  1.25"

Formatted: Normal, Indent: Left:  0"

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2,
3, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.5" +
Indent at:  0.75"

Formatted: Normal, Indent: Left:  0"

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2,
3, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.5" +
Indent at:  0.75"

Formatted: Normal, Indent: Left:  0"

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2,
3, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.5" +
Indent at:  0.75"

Formatted: Normal, Indent: Left:  0"

BFAC 333



Page 12 of 20 
 
 

 

 

 

Formatted: Font: Arial

Formatted: Footer

7. Activity Fee 
 

a. Student activity fees, upon collection by the University, become State funds and 
are subject to statutes, regulations, and University policies and procedures 
applicable to State funds generally. 
 

b. The University shall develop policies concerning the administration of student 
activity fees. The policies and any changes shall become effective when approved 
by the President.  

 
The policies shall contain the following provisions and such other provisions as are 
necessary and appropriate: 

 
i. Provisions for collection of all student activity fees at regular intervals. 

 
ii. Provisions for allocation by a body which includes representation of 

appropriate student organizations and of students generally. 
 

K. Special Fees and Charges 
 

1. Special Fees 
 

Special fees are defined as all fees other than mandatory fees and include, but are not 
limited to, the following: 

 
a. Room and Board fee 
b. Program Change fee 
c. Graduation fee 
d. Late Registration and/or Late Payment fee 
e. Service fee for Installment Payments 
f. Transcript fee 

 
Approval of the PresidentThe President’s approval shall be required to establish or 
change the amount of any special fee. 
 

2. Charges 
 
Charges are defined as program- or activity-specific assessments, and may include 
but are not limited to, the following: 
 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2,
3, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.5" +
Indent at:  0.75"

Formatted: Normal, Indent: Left:  0"

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.75", Numbered + Level: 2 +
Numbering Style: a, b, c, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left +
Aligned at:  1" + Indent at:  1.25"

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.75", Numbered + Level: 2 +
Numbering Style: a, b, c, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left +
Aligned at:  1" + Indent at:  1.25"

Formatted: Left, Indent: Left:  0.5", Space After:  10 pt

Formatted: Normal, Indent: Left:  0"

Formatted: Indent: Left:  1", Hanging:  0.25", Numbered +
Level: 3 + Numbering Style: i, ii, iii, … + Start at: 1 +
Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  1.63" + Indent at:  1.75"

Formatted: Indent: Left:  1", Hanging:  0.25", Numbered +
Level: 3 + Numbering Style: i, ii, iii, … + Start at: 1 +
Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  1.63" + Indent at:  1.75"

Formatted: Normal, Indent: Left:  0"

Formatted: Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: A, B,
C, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.25" +
Indent at:  0.5"

Formatted: Normal

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2,
3, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.5" +
Indent at:  0.75"

Formatted: Normal, Indent: Left:  0"

Formatted: Normal

Formatted: Normal, Indent: Left:  0"

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.75", Numbered + Level: 2 +
Numbering Style: a, b, c, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left +
Aligned at:  1" + Indent at:  1.25"

Formatted: Normal, Indent: Left:  0"

Formatted: Normal

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2,
3, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.5" +
Indent at:  0.75"

Formatted: Normal

BFAC 334



Page 13 of 20 
 
 

 

 

 

Formatted: Font: Arial

Formatted: Footer

a. Laboratory, Material, or Other Course-Related charge 
b. Locker and Towel charge 
c. Late Examination charge 
d. Duplicate Schedule charge 
e. Library Fine charge 
f. Lost Identification or Activity Card charge 
g. Test charge 
h. Parking charge 
 
Approval of the President is required to establish or change the amount of any charge. 

 
3. Waivers and Refunds 

 
Special fees and charges may be waived or refunded in accordance with University 
policy or by specific approval of the President. 

 
L. Internal Offset Procedures 

 
The University shall develop procedures whereby University initiated payments to its 
debtors may be offset in accordance with State law and the rules of the State Comptroller. 
The procedures and any changes shall become effective when approved by the President. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

M. Investment Policy 
 

1. Purpose 
 

The Investment Policy provides the guiding principles for the University to effectively 
supervise, monitor, and evaluate the investment of its funds. 

 
2. Philosophy 

 
The University shall manage its cash and investments in a manner that will preserve 
principal, meet operating cash flow needs, and produce a yield which would be 
described in the current marketplace as acceptable by conservative investment 
managers. 

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.75", Numbered + Level: 2 +
Numbering Style: a, b, c, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left +
Aligned at:  1" + Indent at:  1.25"

Formatted: Normal, Indent: Left:  0.75"

Formatted: Normal

Formatted: Normal, Indent: Left:  0"

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2,
3, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.5" +
Indent at:  0.75"

Formatted: Normal, Indent: Left:  0"

Formatted: Normal

Formatted: Normal, Indent: Left:  0"

Formatted: Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: A, B,
C, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.25" +
Indent at:  0.5"

Formatted: Normal

Formatted: Normal, Indent: Left:  0.5"

BFAC 335



Page 14 of 20 
 
 

 

 

 

Formatted: Font: Arial

Formatted: Footer

 
Investment strategies will evolve over time as market conditions, interest rates, and 
operational needs change. Such strategies must comply with applicable State and 
Federal laws and regulations, and bond/debt indentures. 

 
3. Responsibility and Authority 

 
a. University Board of Trustees 

 
 The Board has fiduciary responsibility for the University’s invested funds. 

 The Board fulfills its fiduciary responsibility for the management of all invested 
funds through the adoption of the University’s investment policy. 

 The Board may retain such professionals, including investment managers, 
consultants, fund custodians, and legal and accounting specialists as may be 
required to achieve the purposes of the investment policy. The Board reserves 
the right to terminate such professionals as a result of performance 
assessment in accordance with this investment policy. 

 
b. Budget, Finance, and Audit Committee of the Board 

 
 Has oversight responsibilities over the University’s investment program. 

 Sets forth recommendations to the Board regarding investment policy. 

 Reviews the University’s investment policy on a periodic basis. 
 Reviews investment asset allocation, portfolio, and performance on a quarterly 

basis. 

 Reports investment activities and performance to the Board on an annual 
basis. 

 Approves the selection and assesses the performance of professionals, 
including consultants, investment managers, fund custodians, and legal and 
accounting specialists as may be required to achieve the purposes of the 
investment policy. 

 
c. Vice President for Administration and Finance/Chief Financial Officer 

 
 Chief custodian of all funds held in the name of the University. 
 Execution of the investment policy, which includes the establishment of 

financial relationships, such as banking relationships, investment managers, 
consultants, custodians, and other vendors directly related to the provision of 

BFAC 336



Page 15 of 20 
 
 

 

 

 

Formatted: Font: Arial

Formatted: Footer

investment management services, for the holding or management of the 
University’s invested funds. 

 Recommends, as necessary, changes to investment allocation and investment 
policy. 

 Provides a quarterly report of investment activities and performance to the 
Budget, Finance, and Audit Committee of the Board. 

 
d. Office of Financial Services and Comptroller 

 

 Manages the University invested funds consistent with the investment policy 
under the direction of the Vice President for Administration and Finance/Chief 
Financial Officer. 

 Directs and manages the day-to-day transactions with external investment 
managers. 

 Establishes internal controls and written operational procedures for the 
operation of the investment program. 

 
e. Investment Managers 

 
 Manages the University invested funds under their supervision in accordance 

with the University investment policy. 
 Exercises full investment discretion with regard to buying, managing, and 

selling assets held in the portfolios. 
 Accorded full discretion, within the limits set forth in this investment policy, to 

select individual securities, adjust the maturity mix, where applicable, and 
diversify their portfolios so as to limit the impact of large losses in individual 
investments on the total portfolio. 

 Uses the same care, skill, prudence, and due diligence under the 
circumstances then prevailing that experienced investment professionals 
acting in a like capacity would in the management of their own affairs, not in 
regard to speculation, but in regard to the stewardship of their funds 
considering the probable income, risk, and preservation of capital. 

 Provides the University with monthly and quarterly reports of investment 
activities, fund holdings and performance. 

 
4. Policy 

 
a. University Funds Available for Investments 

 

BFAC 337



Page 16 of 20 
 
 

 

 

 

Formatted: Font: Arial

Formatted: Footer

 Operating Funds: Represents all funds available for current use in support of 
the University’s academic programs and support functions. These operating 
funds are pooled to provide the University continuity of mission, investment 
flexibility, and efficient administration. 
 

 Debt Funds: Proceeds from debt issuance, which can be temporarily invested 
pending expenditure for the related University’s projects. 

 
b. Investment Objectives 

 
University investments shall be managed with prudent judgment and care. The 
investment portfolio shall be managed with the intention of obtaining the highest 
possible net return, balancing reasonable growth and yield with acceptable risk. In 
addition, the portfolio shall exhibit diversity with respect to instrument type and 
duration. The achievement of these objectives shall be accomplished in the 
manner described below: 

 
 Safety: The safety of principal is the foremost objective of the investment 

program. The University funds shall be invested in a manner which seeks to 
ensure the preservation of capital. 

 
 Liquidity: The University’s investment portfolio will be structured in such a 

manner that securities mature at the same time as cash is needed to meet 
anticipated operational cash flow needs. Additionally, since all possible cash 
demands cannot be anticipated, the portfolio should consist largely of 
securities with active secondary or resale markets. 

 
 Return on Investments: Investment returns on the University’s investment 

portfolio is a priority after the safety and liquidity objectives described above. 
Investments are limited to relatively low risk securities in anticipation of earning 
a fair return relative to the risk being assumed. 

 
c. Authorized Investments 

 
University funds should be invested in accordance with the State of Illinois Public 
Funds Investment Act (30 ILCS 235), which authorized the University to invest in 
the following: 

 

BFAC 338



Page 17 of 20 
 
 

 

 

 

Formatted: Font: Arial

Formatted: Footer

 Bonds, notes, certificates of indebtedness, treasury bills, or other securities 
guaranteed by full faith and credit of the United States of America as to 
principal and interest. 

 
 Bonds, notes, debentures, or other similar obligations of the United States of 

America, its agencies, and its instrumentalities. Agencies of the United States 
of America includes: 
o federal land banks, federal intermediate credit banks, banks for 

cooperative, federal farm credit banks, or any other entity authorized to 
issue debt obligations under the Farm Credit Act of 1971 (12 U.S.C. 2001 
et seq.) and Acts amendatory thereto; 

o federal home loan banks and federal home loan mortgage corporation; 
o any other agency created by Act of Congress. 

 
 Interest-bearing savings accounts, interest-bearing certificates of deposits, 

interest-bearing time deposits, or any other investment that constitutes direct 
obligations of any bank as defined by the Illinois Banking Act (205 ILCS 5). 

 
 Short-term obligations of corporations organized in the United States with 

assets exceeding $500M, if: 
o such obligations are rated at the time of purchase at 1 of the 3 highest 

classifications established by at least 2 standard rating services; 
o the maturity is not later than 270 days from the date of purchase, or the 

maturity is more than 270 days but less than 3 years from the date of 
purchase; 

o such purchases do not exceed 10% of the corporation’s outstanding 
obligations; 

o no more than one-third of the University’s funds may be invested in short-
term obligations of corporations. 

 

 Money market mutual funds registered under the Investment Company Act of 
1940. 

 
 Short-term discount obligations of the Federal National Mortgage Association 

or in shares or other forms of securities legally issuable by savings and loan 
associations which are incorporated under the laws of Illinois or any other state 
or under the laws of the United States. 
o Investments may be made only in those savings and loan associations 

which are insured by the Federal Savings and Loan Insurance Corporation. 

BFAC 339



Page 18 of 20 
 
 

 

 

 

Formatted: Font: Arial

Formatted: Footer

o Securities may be purchased at the offering or market price at the time of 
purchase. 

o Securities shall mature or be redeemable on a date or dates prior to the 
time when invested funds will be required for expenditure by the University. 

 
 Dividend-bearing share accounts, share certificate accounts or class of share 

accounts of a credit union chartered under the laws of the State of Illinois or 
the laws of the United States, provided the principal office of the credit union 
must be located within the State of Illinois and the investments must be in 
accounts which are insured by applicable law. 

 
 The Illinois Funds Money Market Funds. 

 

 Repurchase agreements that meet certain instrument and transaction 
requirements. 

 
d. Diversification and Allocation 

 
The University will diversify its investments by security type, issue and maturity in 
order to reduce overall portfolio risks while striving to obtain the highest possible 
net return. The University’s investment portfolio will be structured to provide that 
sufficient funds from investments are available every month to meet the 
University’s anticipated cash needs. Subject to the safety objectives outlined 
above, the choice in investment instruments and maturities will be based upon an 
analysis of anticipated cash needs, existing and anticipated revenues, interest rate 
trends, and specific market opportunities. 

 
e. Bank Deposit Collateralization Requirements 

 
In accordance with the State Finance Act (30 ILCS 105/6a-1e), whenever funds 
retained by the University in its own treasury are deposited with a bank or savings 
and loan association and the amount of the deposit exceeds the amount of federal 
deposit insurance coverage, a bond or pledged securities shall be obtained. Only 
the types of securities which the State Treasurer may, in his discretion, accept for 
amounts not insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation or the Federal 
Savings and Loan Insurance Corporation under Section 11 of the Deposit of State 
Moneys Act (15 ILCS 520/11) may be accepted as pledged securities. The market 
value of the bond or pledged securities shall at all times be equal to or greater than 
the uninsured portion of the deposit. 

 

BFAC 340



Page 19 of 20 
 
 

 

 

 

Formatted: Font: Arial

Formatted: Footer

f. Selection of Investment Managers 
 

Selection of investment managers will be based on prudent due diligence 
procedures as informed by the Illinois Procurement Code. Investment managers 
who manage University funds must be registered with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission, carry adequate levels of insurance, and have sufficient documented 
investment history and experience, personnel, organizational and fee structure, 
and client service capabilities to meet University needs. 

 
g. Standards of Care 

 
 Prudent Person Rule: The standard of prudence to be used by the officers, 

employees, and agents, including, but not limited to, investment managers, 
involved in the investment process shall be the “prudent person rule” and shall 
be applied in the context of managing an overall investment portfolio. 

 
 Ethics and Conflicts of Interest: Officers, employees, and agents, including, but 

not limited to, investment managers, involved in the investment process shall 
refrain from personal business activity that conflicts with the proper execution 
of the investment program, or impairs their ability to make impartial investment 
decisions. They shall comply with the Board policies and regulations, 
University policies and procedures, and all the applicable Federal and State 
laws and regulations governing ethics and conflicts of interest. This includes, 
but is not limited to, the Illinois Governmental Ethics Act (5 ILCS 420), and the 
State Officials and Employees Ethics Act (5 ILCS 430), which set forth 
guidelines for professional conduct by those acting on behalf of the University. 
Any material interest in financial institutions with which the University conducts 
business shall be reported to the University Ethics Officer. 

 

 Internal Controls: The University is responsible for establishing, maintaining, 
and evaluating internal control systems designed to ensure compliance with 
applicable laws and regulations; recording transactions properly; and 
protecting assets from loss that might arise from fraud, employee error, 
misrepresentation by third parties, or imprudent actions by employees. 

 
h. Sustainable Investing 

 
In accordance with the Illinois Sustainable Investing Act (30 ILCS 238), officers, 
employees, and agents, including, but not limited to, investment managers, 
involved in the investment process will strive, within the bounds of financial and 

Formatted: Indent: Left:  1"

BFAC 341



Page 20 of 20 
 
 

 

 

 

Formatted: Font: Arial

Formatted: Footer

fiduciary prudence, to regularly consider material, relevant, and decision-useful 
sustainability factors in evaluating investment decisions. Factors to be considered 
may include, but are not limited to: (i) corporate governance and leadership factors, 
(ii) environmental factors, (iii) social capital factors, (iv) human capital factors, and 
(v) business model and innovation factors. 

BFAC 342



Page 9: [1] Formatted   Nohos, Therese   9/26/2022 10:24:00 PM 
Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.5" + 

Indent at:  0.75" 
 

Page 9: [2] Formatted   Nohos, Therese   9/26/2022 10:24:00 PM 
Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.5" + 

Indent at:  0.75" 
 

Page 9: [3] Formatted   Nohos, Therese   9/26/2022 10:24:00 PM 
Indent: Left:  0.75", Numbered + Level: 2 + Numbering Style: a, b, c, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + 

Aligned at:  1" + Indent at:  1.25" 
 

Page 10: [4] Formatted   Nohos, Therese   9/26/2022 10:24:00 PM 
Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: A, B, C, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.25" + 

Indent at:  0.5" 
 

Page 10: [5] Formatted   Nohos, Therese   9/26/2022 10:24:00 PM 
Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.5" + 

Indent at:  0.75" 
 

Page 10: [6] Formatted   Nohos, Therese   9/26/2022 10:24:00 PM 
Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.5" + 

Indent at:  0.75" 
 

Page 10: [7] Formatted   Nohos, Therese   9/26/2022 10:24:00 PM 
Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.5" + 

Indent at:  0.75" 
 

Page 10: [8] Formatted   Nohos, Therese   9/26/2022 10:24:00 PM 
Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.5" + 

Indent at:  0.75" 
 

Page 10: [9] Formatted   Nohos, Therese   9/26/2022 10:24:00 PM 
Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: A, B, C, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.25" + 

Indent at:  0.5" 
 

Page 10: [10] Formatted   Nohos, Therese   9/26/2022 10:24:00 PM 
Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.5" + 

Indent at:  0.75" 
 

Page 10: [11] Formatted   Nohos, Therese   9/26/2022 10:24:00 PM 

BFAC 343


	AMENDED FINAL BFAC BOOK 2022_09_30.pdf
	COVER PAGE TO BOARD BOOK

	TABLE OF CONTENTS.pdf
	1. Agenda
	2. May 24, 2022 Budget and Finance Committee Meeting Minutes
	3. Budget to Actual Report for period July 1, 2021 through June 30, 2022
	4. Procurement Activities Report
	5. Diversity Vendor Report
	a. Report
	b. Exhibit to Report

	6. Report on Income-Producing Contracts
	7. Reporting on FY2021 Audits
	a. Report on Fiscal Year 2021 Audit and Financial Results
	b. Slide Deck
	c. Financial Audit for Year Ended June 30, 2021
	d. State Compliance Examination for Year Ended June 30, 2021
	e. Federal Single Audit for Year Ended June 30, 2021
	f. Corrective Action Plans

	8. Resolution 23-XX: Consideration and Possible Recommendation of FY2023 Operating Budget for Approval by Board and Submission to IBHE
	a. Executive Summary
	b. Proposed Resolution

	9. Resolution 23-XX: Consideration and Possible Recommendation of FY2024 Operating Appropriations Budget for Approval by Board and Submission to IBHE
	a. Executive Summary
	b. Proposed Resolution

	10. Resolution 23-XX: Consideration and Possible Recommendation of FY2024 Capital Improvement Budget for Approval by Board and Submission to IBHE
	a. Executive Summary
	b. Proposed Resolution
	c. Exhibit to Proposed Resolution

	11. Resolution 23-XX: Approval of Investment Policy
	a. Executive Summary
	b. Proposed Resolution
	c. Exhibit A to Proposed Resolution
	d. Exhibit B to Proposed Resolution


	AMENDED FINAL BFAC BOOK 2022_09_30
	TABLE OF CONTENTS
	1. Agenda
	2. May 24, 2022 Budget and Finance Committee Meeting Minutes
	3. Budget to Actual Report for period July 1, 2021 through June 30, 2022
	4. Procurement Activities of $100,000 to $249,999 for the Period of  May 1, 2022 through August 31, 2022
	5. Diversity Vendor Report
	a. Report
	b. Exhibit to Report

	6. Report on Income-Producing Contracts
	7. Reporting on FY2021 Audits
	a. Slide Deck
	b. Financial Audit for Year Ended June 30, 2021
	c. State Compliance Examination for Year Ended June 30, 2021
	d. Federal Single Audit for Year Ended June 30, 2021
	e. Corrective Action Plans

	8. Resolution 23-XX: Consideration and Possible Recommendation of FY2023 Operating Budget for Approval by Board and Submission to IBHE
	a. Executive Summary
	b. Proposed Resolution

	9. Resolution 23-XX: Consideration and Possible Recommendation of FY2024 Operating Appropriations Budget for Approval by Board and Submission to IBHE
	a. Executive Summary
	b. Proposed Resolution

	10. Resolution 23-XX: Consideration and Possible Recommendation of FY2024 Capital Improvement Budget for Approval by Board and Submission to IBHE
	a. Executive Summary
	b. Proposed Resolution
	c. Exhibit to Proposed Resolution

	11. Resolution 23-XX: Approval of Investment Policy
	a. Executive Summary
	b. Proposed Resolution
	c. Exhibit A to Proposed Resolution
	d. Exhibit B to Proposed Resolution


	Tab Separator 1
	TAB 1 2022_10_07 BFAC Committee Meeting Agenda FINAL BY TKN
	Tab Separator 2
	TAB 2 minutes, 5-24-22 bf committee meeting, for committee approval, FINAL BY TKN
	Tab Separator 3
	TAB 3 Budget to Actual Report for peroid July 1, 2021, through June 30, 2022 FINAL BY TKN
	GSU Operating Budget to Actual Report
	July 1, 2021 to June 30, 2022

	Tab Separator 4
	TAB 4 ProcurEment Act. of $100,000 to $250,000 or the period of May 1, 2022 through August 31, 2022 FINAL BY TKN
	Tab Separator 5
	TAB 5 Diversity Vendor Report FY22 FINAL BY TKN
	TAB 5a Attachment to Diversity Supplier Report FY22 FINAL BY TKN
	Sheet1

	Tab Separator 6
	TAB 6 Report on Income Generating Contracts FINAL BY TKN
	Tab Separator 7
	TAB 7 Reporting on FY 2021 Audits PPT FINAL BY TKN
	�FISCAL YEAR 2021 AUDIT �AND FINANCIAL RESULTS
	Slide Number 2
	Slide Number 3
	COMPONENTS OF ASSETS �(Amounts in ‘000)
	ANALYSIS OF CHANGES IN ASSETS�FY 2021 vs FY 2020�
	CASH & CASH EQUIVALENTS/INVESTMENTS AND CAPITAL ASSETS REPRESENT A SIGNIFICANT PORTION OF THE UNIVERSITY’S ASSETS
	COMPONENTS OF LIABILITIES �(Amounts in ‘000)
	�ANALYSIS OF CHANGES IN LIABILITIES�FY 2021 vs FY 2020
	LONG-TERM DEBT (REVENUE BONDS AND CERTIFICATES OF PARTICIPATION) REPRESENTS A SIGNIFICANT PORTION OF THE UNIVERSITY’S LIABILITIES
	COMPONENTS OF NET POSITION�(Amounts in ‘000)
	RESULTS OF OPERATIONS, AT A GLANCE�(Amounts in ‘000)
	COMPONENTS OF REVENUES�(Amounts in ‘000)
	�ANALYSIS OF CHANGES IN REVENUES�FY 2021 vs FY 2020
	TUITION & FEES, GRANTS & CONTRACTS, AND APPROPRIATIONS FROM THE STATE (INCLUDING PAYMENTS ON-BEHALF) REPRESENT A SIGNIFICANT PORTION OF THE UNIVERSITY’S REVENUES
	COMPONENTS OF EXPENSES�(Amounts in ‘000)
	�ANALYSIS OF CHANGES IN EXPENSES�FY 2021 vs FY 2020
	SALARIES AND BENEFITS REPRESENT A SIGNIFICANT PORTION OF THE UNIVERSITY’S EXPENSES
	AUDIT REPORT FINDINGS - FINANCIAL AUDIT
	AUDIT REPORT FINDINGS - FEDERAL COMPLIANCE
	AUDIT REPORT FINDINGS - STATE COMPLIANCE
	AUDIT REPORT FINDINGS - STATE COMPLIANCE (I.T.)
	Questions and Answers

	TAB 7a GSU FY21 Combined Report_Financial, State Compliance, Federal (Single) Audit, Corrective Action Plans- Part 1
	TAB 7a GSU FY21 Combined Report_Financial, State Compliance, Federal (Single) Audit, Corrective Action Plans- Part 1
	TAB 7a GSU FY21 Combined Report_Financial, State Compliance, Federal (Single) Audit, Corrective Action Plans- Part 1
	TAB 7a GSU FY21 Combined Report_Financial, State Compliance, Federal (Single) Audit, Corrective Action Plans- Part 1
	TAB 7a GSU FY21 Combined Report_Financial, State Compliance, Federal (Single) Audit, Corrective Action Plans- Part 1
	TAB 7a GSU FY21 Combined Report_Financial, State Compliance, Federal (Single) Audit, Corrective Action Plans- Part 1
	TAB 7b GSU FY21 Combined Report_Financial, State Compliance, Federal (Single) Audit, Corrective Action Plans- Part 2
	Tab Separator 8
	TAB 8 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY RE RESOLUTION APPROVAL OF OPERATING BUDGET FOR FY23 BY CB
	EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
	Resolution 23-XX
	Resolution for the Approval of FY2023 Operating Budget

	TAB 8a RESOLUTION RE APPROVAL OF OPERATING BUDGET FY 23 FINAL BY CB
	Tab Separator 9
	TAB 9 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY RE RESOLUTION TO APPROVE FY 24 OPERATING BUDGET SUBMISSION TO IBHE BY CB
	EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
	Resolution 23-XX
	Resolution for the Approval of FY2024 Operating Appropriations Budget Request to the Illinois Board of Higher Education

	TAB 9a RESOLUTION RE APPROVAL OF OPERATING APPROPRIATIONS BUDGET FY24 TO IBHE BY CB
	Tab Separator 10
	TAB 10 Executive Summary re Capital Requests to IBHE FINAL BY TKN
	EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
	Resolution 23-XX
	Resolution for the Approval of FY2024 Capital Improvement Budget
	to the Illinois Board of Higher Education

	TAB 10a RESOLUTION RE APPROVAL OF CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT BUDGET FY24 FINAL BY TKN
	Tab Separator 11
	TAB 11 Executive Summary Investment Policy FINAL BY TKN
	Resolution 23-XX

	TAB 11A RESOLUTION RE APPROVAL OF INVESTMENT POLICY FINAL BY MNW
	TAB 11a(1) EXHIBIT A TO INVESTMENT POLICY RESOLUTION (CLEAN)
	TAB 11b(2) EXHIBIT B TO INVESTMENT POLICY RESOLUTION (REDLINED)




